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The Directors of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings (which together comprise “the Group”) present their
Strategic Report on the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Review of the business
Market Need

The Group believes that the current healthcare system is in crisis. Countries and economies across the globe continue
to be challenged by rising healthcare costs attributable in significant part to fragmented care and treatment of long-term
conditions. Healthcare organizations continue to wrestle with operational inefficiency, reduced reimbursements,
avoidable costs and preventable errors, all while aspiring to improve patient outcomes, consumer experience, and the
bottom line.

The Group believes that the healthcare systems face significant challenges to deliver safe, cost effective diagnosis,
treatment and care for people in communities across the world due to: (i) lack of ability to provide accurate, relevant,
actionable diagnostic results for patients in real time, (i) lack of communication and coordination across different venues
of care which hinders proactive, informed and cost effective diagnosis and treatment; and (jii) difficulty engaging and
activating patients to become more accountable for their own health with the guidance of their physician and support
of their care team. The existing diagnostic products on the market today do not fulfill the needs of the health community
to achieve their goals or overcome these issues. The Group is developing products and solutions to address these
challenges head on.

The solutions and products the Group is developing will address these needs and can be deployed in a very wide
variety of care venues such as hospital, physician offices, outpatient clinics, retail clinics, urgent care centers,
pharmacies and with home health agencies. Just as these products and solutions offer significant value in a variety of
care settings, they also offer significant valie on a global basis regardless of economic or current infrastructure
conditions.

The Group's Vision

The Group’s vision is to provide enabling technologies to achieve better outcomes, improve the experience and resuits
for patients and their care teams, and reduce costs. We believe

patient health outcomes need to and will be improved

better outcomes can be achieved while lowering costs

the convergence of multiple technologies will be instrumental in achieving these objectives
innovators and organizations that challenge the status quo will lead the way to improvements
LumiraDx will be a key enabler in the achievement of these goals

e & o o o

Strategy and competitive advantage

The Group's strategy is to commercialize a patented next generation point of care diagnostic platform. The LumiraDx
Platform is an innovative, next generation point of care diagnostic system that combines a small, portable instrument,
advanced low cost test strips with seamless digital connectivity. The Group plans to deliver unmatched value through
unmatched advantages in clinical diagnostic performance, disruptively low pricing on a broad menu of tests all
performed on a single, easy to use Platform. LumiraDx will enable providers to be more effective clinically, operationally
and economically.

2021 Performance

The Group realized a loss of $159.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The loss was a result of continued
investment in research and development for our products and services and sales and administrative expenses related
to commercializing the Platform as well as additional costs related to the Group’s parent company listing on the
NASDAQ exchange in the United States. These investments in growth (operational costs) increased year over year
by $104.2 million, while generating gross profits of $151.5 million. Gross profits increased $98.6 million as the Group
had a full year of Platform sales in 2021.

During 2020, the Group received Emergency Use Authorization in the United States for its SARS-CoV-2 antigen test,

part of the LumiraDx Platform. As of December 31, 2021, the Group had placed more than 21,000 Instruments across
nearly 100 countries and had more than 1,600 staff across the globe. The Group also has a CE Marks on its SARS-
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CoV-2 antigen pool test, SARS-CoV-2 & Flu A/B tests, INR test, CRP test and D-Dimer test.
Future Developments

The Group continues to focus on growth, through internal research and development, collaborations with external
research and development partners and the expansion of its distribution network and manufacturing capabilities. The
Group expects to continue to add additional assays to the LumiraDx Platform in 2022, with more than 30 tests in various
phases of development.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Our business is subject to many risks as we enter a pivotal point in the commercialization of our Platform. These risks
could have a material and adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows
and our future prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected.

We have engaged in a large, broad-scale launch of our SARS-CoV-2 antigen test and we are relying on such test to
create brand awareness and a revenue base to support our cost infrastructure as well as to create an installed base of
our Instrument.

We have limited commercial experience with our Platform, and our launch of additional tests, including our SARS-CoV-
2 antigen test, which has been launched in Europe and the U.S., may be delayed, be less successful than we anticipate,
or fail for any of the reasons that large commercial launches are ultimately unsuccessful.

Operations of the type and scope that we plan are subject to many uncertainties, and many that are undertaken are
unsuccessful. We cannot be certain that we will be able to achieve our business objectives as described in this
prospectus, and potential investors should give serious consideration to that possibility prior to making an investment
in this offering.

Funding for continued operations

In March 2022 the Group entered into privately negotiated subscription agreements with certain investors wherein the
Group sold and investors purchased $56,500 of Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2027. The notes bear
annual interest of 6%, payable semi-annually in arrears starting September 1, 2022. The notes mature on March 1,
2027 and are convertible at the holder’s option at an initial conversion rate of approximately $9.22 per share.

In April 2022 the Group consummated the first closing of a private placement offering pursuant to which it received an
initial investment of $26.1 million in cash and entered into a Instrument Financing Agreement with USB Focus Fund
LumiraDx 2A, LLC, USB Focus Fund LumiraDx 2B, LLC and certain other related investors (collectively, the
“Investors”), and Pear Tree Partners, L.P. The terms of the Instrument Financing Agreement provide that the Investors
may invest up to an aggregate maximum amount of $50 million in the Group, or such higher amount as agreed to by
the Company and the Investors (the “Invested Amount”), in one or more closings, in order to fund the purchase of
additional LumiraDx instruments, allowing the Group to further expand instrument placements. In consideration of such
investment, the Group has agreed to pay to the Investors on a semi-annual basis and over a three-year period (subject
to extension in certain events), a payment that is equal to 20% of the total gross amount invoiced by the Group in
respect of sales of test strips for use in such funded LumiraDx instruments which are allocated to the Invested Amount
by the Company in accordance with the terms of the Instrument Financing Agreement (the “Instrument Financing
Payments”). In June 2022 the Group closed an additional $15.4 million with the investors.

The 2021 Senior Secured Loan matures in March 2024 and contains customary covenants including achieving certain
revenue levels for the years ending December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and maintaining minimum liquidity levels. The
Group met the 2021 revenue covenant and has met the minimum liquidity levels. For the 2022 revenue covenant and
quarterly liquidity levels, the Group’s short-term revenue prospects and liquidity levels will vary with the amount of
demand for its SARS-CoV-2 products. While the directors believe that the Group’s SARS-CoV-2 products will continue
to remain in high demand as COVID-19 vaccines are available, the continued efficacy of such vaccines or the mitigation
of the COVID-19 pandemic earlier than expected for any other reason could negatively impact demand for the Group’s
Platform and sales of its Instrument, test strips and other products. In addition, competitors may produce more accurate
tests or tests which receive more favorable demand, both of which may impact the Group's revenue streams and ability
to meet the covenants.

On June 17, 2022, the Group entered into a second amendment to the 2021 Senior Secured Loan, to provide for,
among other things, immediate revisions to the minimum net sales and the minimum liquidity covenants (the
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“Amendment”). If the Group completes a Qualifying Financing as defined in the Amendment, further revisions to the
covenants take effect.

In July, the Group closed a secondary public stock offering. The gross proceeds from the offering were $75 million. In
addition to the shares being sold in the public offering, the Group also sold additional shares to raise gross proceeds
of approximately $25.0 million in a concurrent private placement to one of its existing investors, the Bill & Melinda Gates
Foundation. The underwriters had a 30-day option to purchase additional common shares at the public offering price
and purchased $7 million of shares in August. In total, the Group received nét proceeds of approximately $100 million
after fees and commissions.

The Group does expect it will require additional capital to reach profitability and the directors expect to raise this capital
through fundraising activities in the future. The Group has consistently been successful in raising capital to support the
development of the business and expects to be able to continue to raise the funds required to reach profitability and
achieve a sustainable level of cash generation.

We manage our risks by continuing to raise additional capital, managing and limiting our spending and ensuring
adequate cash reserves.

Going concern

The Group currently meets its day-to-day working capital requirements primarily from cash raised through debt and
equity, including $56.5 million in convertible notes issued in March 2022 and approximately $100 million in net proceeds
from a public stock issuance in July and August 2022. With the Group’s existing cash balances and the committed
amounts, the directors are confident that the company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they
fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial
statements which indicate that, taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the company will have sufficient
funds, through the investors financing described above, to meet its liabilities as they fall due for that period.

Research & Development

Our ability to continue to commercialize our planned products, gain market acceptance of them, generate sales and
revenue, and achieve profitability is uncertain. If the commercialization of our systems is delayed or, once we have
commercialized them, they do not gain market acceptance, we will be unable to generate significant sales, which will
prevent us from achieving profitability. We operate in a very competitive market. Even if we are able to launch and
commercialize our planned products, they may not achieve market acceptance, which would prevent us from achieving
profitability. In addition, the regulatory assessment process for our products and services is expensive, time consuming,
and uncertain and may prevent us from obtaining required approvals for the commercialization of our products. In
addition, our products or services could infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, which may require costly
litigation and, if we are not successful, could also cause us to pay substantial damages and limit our ability to sell some
or all of our products.

We manage the risks associated with our product development and commercialization by employing experienced
executives and employees in the industry. We continue to dedicate significant funding to our development efforts and
monitor our progress continuously.

Employees

We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management. The loss of services of any of these persons
could seriously harm our product development and commercialization efforts. In addition, we will require additional
skilled personnel in areas such as assay development, manufacturing, instrumentation, quality control, project
management, regulatory affairs, specialized IT personnel, intellectual property management and sales and marketing.
Demand for personnel with these skills in our industry is extremely high and is likely to remain high. As a result,
competition for and retention of personnel, particularly for employees with technical expertise, is intense and the
turnover rate is high. If we are unable to hire, train and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees, our ability to
conduct and expand our business could be seriously reduced. The inability to retain and hire qualified personnel could
also hinder the planned expansion of our business.
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We manage the risks associated with retention of key executives by providing long term incentives, in the form of
stock options, for many of our key executives. In addition, some of our key executives are significant shareholders in
the Company. We believe management’s stock ownership positions reduces the likelihood of turnover and drives
strong engagement.

'Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

Our business began commercialization in late 2020 focused on COVID-related products. As we continue to expand
our management monitors the execution of business plans both for performance against key milestones and cash
spending to ensure we are progressing effectively and efficiently toward our plan and vision.

Section 172 Statement

The Directors are required to include a statement of how they have had regard to stakeholders to promote the success
of the Company, in accordance with section 172 of the Companies Act 2006. Under section 172, a Director must act in
the way he considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its
members, as a whole, and in doing so have regard to:

the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

the interests of the Company’s employees;

the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

the impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment;

the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
the need to act fairly, as between members of the Company.

In accordance with the QCA Code, as well as what is most likely to promote the success of the Group in the long term,
the Board considers the interests of the Group's émployees and other stakeholders in its decision making and
understands the importance of taking into account their views and considers the impact of the Group’s activities on the
community, environment and its reputation.

Decision Making

We are a next-generation POC diagnostic company addressing the current limitations of legacy POC systems by
bringing lab-comparable performance to the POC in minutes on a single instrument with a low cost of ownership. We
are focused on transforming community-based healthcare by providing critical diagnostic information to healthcare
providers at the point of need, thereby enabling more informed medical decisions to improve health outcomes while
lowering costs.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting acute need for timely diagnostic information, we developed
our SARS-CoV-2 antigen test, SARS-CoV-2 antigen pool test, SARS-CoV-2 antibody test, SARS-CoV-2 & Flu A/B
tests, SARS-CoV-2 & RSV test and SARS-CoV-2 Ag Ultra and Ultra Pool tests for use in community-based healthcare
settings. These tests have demonstrated highly accurate results within minutes on our Instrument. We have
commercialized our SARS-CoV-2 antigen test in the EEA, Japan, india, Brazil, the United States and other countries
to customers, including the National Health Service and CVS Pharmacy Inc. and have made shipments of Instruments
and SARS-CoV-2 antigen test strips to a number of countries in Africa as part of our collaboration with BMGF. PLOS
Medicine published a living systématic review and meta-analysis of more than 60 SARS-CoV-2 antigen tests and
ranked our test as most sensitive and accurate. Our SARS-CoV-2 antigen test is currently being used and implemented
in various testing programs across the globe, including in accident and emergency departments, care homes, retail
pharmacies and other primary care settings. We are also supporting testing in schools, workplaces, travel and events
where there continues to be a need for diagnostic testing.

For further details on how the company is managed please see the Corporate Governance Statement in the Directors’
Report.

Employee Engagement
Our employees are fundamental to the success of our business. We aim to be a responsible employer in our approach

to the pay and benefits of employees. The health, safety and wellbeing of our employees is one of the primary
considerations in the way we do business. In 2021, the following activities have been performed:
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Established Employee Resource Groups.
Quarterly business briefing, where the Group’s senior managers present and are available to answer
questions,

e Established an Employee Share Purchase Plan in connection with the Group's ultimate parent listing on the
NASDAQ

Business Relationships

We are fully committed to effectively engage with all our stakeholders As we operate in a highly connected
enwronment the views, decisions and actions of our stakeholders have a considérable |mpact on our business.
Therefore, our success depends on our ability to engage and work together effectively and constructively. In 2021
examples included:

e Commenced quarterly earnings announcements and conference calls to provide information to
stakeholders.

e Attended key industry congresses

» Ongoing communication with our suppliers to develop deeper relationships with companies in our supply
chains as well as develop strategic relationships with our key suppliers.

e Regular exchange with HM Government and its various departments, UK and international NGOs, trade
bodies and industry associations as well as other stakeholders to build trust, understand positions, identify
trends as well as build on and consolidate partnerships.

Community and Environment

We have developed and launched our Platform with the aim of transforming the delivery of healthcare in community-
based healthcare settings. We believe our Platform’s user-friendly setup, competitive cost structure and potential for
a broad test menu make it an attractive instrument for roll out in settings where POC testing has traditionally been more
challenging, such as low and middle income countries. In addition, our Platform allows customers to consolidate
multiple POC instruments to a single instrument reducing waste generated from testing.

Culture and Values

We are an organization with a strong sense of integrity. Doing the right thing, working ethlcally and with high quality in
all we do is at the heart of our values. We want to maintain high ethical and social standards in our business dealings;
in our efforts to protect the environment: and to ensure good citizenship. We are committed to the respect of human
rights and principles of sustainability. For us, this includes the responsible — that is, the efficient and effective — use of
available resources, at present and in the future. We achieve sustainability when we establish an acceptable balance
between the economic requirements of our corporation and the valid expectations of all those who share in our success
(the stakeholders). We conduct an open and constructive dialog with all relevant stakeholders.

On Behalf of the Board,
DocuSigned by:
Kon. Pwanrsinr
CQOBFGQJGOBMSA...

Director
30 September 2022
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The Directors present their Report and the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. Certain
information required by the Companies Act 2006 relating to the information to be provided in the Directors’ Report is
set out in the Strategic Report and includes: Review of the Businiess, Principal Risks and Uncertainties and Future
Developments.

Principal Activity

The Company’s and the Group’s principal activity during the period was the fesearch, development and launch of
products in its patented next generation point of care diagnostic platform. The Company was incorporated on 1
September 2014.

Dividends
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
Research and Development

Our research & development activities principally take place in our facilities in Stirling, United Kingdom and Waltham,
United States. We utilize both internal and external resources to continue development on our novel diagnostics
platform. We consider our efforts to be on track with our business and strateglc plans, as adjusted where required from
time to time, for our vision to achieve better outcomes, improve the experience and results for patients and their care
teams, and reduce healthcare costs.

Financial Risk Management
The Company's financial risk management activities are described in the financial statement footnotes.
Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021, and up to the date of approval of the Financial
Statements, were:

Dr J F McAleer (appointed 18 November 2014)
Dr D Scott (appointed 18 November 2014)
R Zwanziger (appointed 1 September 2014)

Provision of Information to Auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware:
¢ there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware; and
« the Directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Auditor

Under Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, _KPMG LLP will be dee_med to have been reappointed as auditor 28
days after these financial statements were sent to members or 28 days after the latest date prescribed for filing the
accounts with the registrar, whichever is earlier. KPMG LLP has signifiéd its willingness to continue in office as auditor.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

This report was undertaken in accordance with the Streamlined Energy and Carbon (“SECR") Reporting requirements
outlined in the Companies Act (2006) for large quoted and unlisted companies which requires LumiraDx UK Ltd to
report on its Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions.

The Company has opted to exclude information from the group report which relates to subsidiaries which would not be
obliged to report in its own right under SECR.
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This report contains details on annual GHG emissions, total energy consumption for LumiraDx UK Ltd (09206123)
covering our offices, transport assets, and energy efficiency and environmental management actions implemented
during the financial year. This report contains our SECR disclosure for the 2021 financial year.

Methodology
Scope of analysis and data collection

Over 2021 we have collected primary data from energy consumption across our sites and business travel activities
including: grid electricity consumption (kWh), natural gas consumption (kWh), and employee mileage claims (Grey
Fleet).

Calculation Méthodology

We have used the BEIS and Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Reporting Standard (GHG Protocol) methodology
for compiling this GHG data and have calculated our GHG emissions in accordance with the UK Government’s reporting
guidelines for Company Reporting. To ensure consistency in our reporting we are reporting all GHG emissions in units
of COze (carbon dioxide equivalent), and have used 2021 GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting, published
annually by Defra and BEIS.

Where incomplete electricity consumption and gas consumption datasets have had to be used, we have estimated
consumption based on the pro-rated average of previous months. For electricity consumption’s missing data, we used
the electricity consumption from nearby sites to calculate an average value. For gas consumption’s missing data, we
used the gas consumption of all sités to calculate an average value.

GHG Emissions Scopes

The following reporting scopes (as outlined by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol) are included within this disclosure:

e Scope 1 Emissions: direct emissions from sources which LumiraDx UK Ltd owns or controls. This includes natural
gas consumption across our sites.

¢ Scope 2 Emissions: indirect emissions relating solely to the generation of purchased electricity that is consumed
by LumiraDx UK Ltd across our sites.

« Scope 3 Emissions: indirect emissions relating solely to business travel by LumiraDx UK Ltd employees using
their own vehicles (Grey Fleet).

Energy Consumption

The table below displays our annual energy consumption for electricity, natural gas, and mileage from Grey Fleet
vehicles. As per SECR reporting requirements this information is presented in kilowatt hours (kWh).

Emissions GHG Scope Reporting 2021
Source (GHG Protocol)  Units (1t Jan — 30* Dec)
Electricity Scope 2 Kilowatt hour (kWh) 3,655,135
Grey Fleet Scope 3 Kilowatt Hour (kWh) 272,093
Natural Gas Scope 1 Kilowatt Hour (kWh) 116,745
Total Energy Consumption - - 3,943,973
(kWh)

GHG Emissions Reporting

In accordance with the SECR Emissions Reporting requirements our GHG Emissions disclosure is outlined below.
Results have been split by GHG Emissions Scope as outlined by the GHG Protoco! calculation methodology.
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GHG Emlsswns Scope ~ Result Units . 2021 Percentage of GHG Emissions
Scope 1 ' ~ tonnes COze - 21.38 _ 2.50%
Scope 2 tonnes COze 754.86 89.50%
Scope 3 ‘ ~ tonnes CQze _ 66.94 ' o 7.90%
"Total GHG Emissions ~ tonnes COze ' 843.18 - 100%
GHG Emissions Intensity  tonnes CO2e/EM turnover 269 ' ’ .

Total GHG Emissions for Scope 1 and Scope 2 for the reporting period 1%t Jan 2021 — 315 Dec 2021 are 843.18 tonnes
COze. Of our total GHG emissions Scope 1 accounts for 2.5%, Scope 2 accounts for 89.5%, and Scope 3 counts for
7.9%. These results will act as our baséline GHG emissions which will be used as a benchmark for future performance
to be disclosed.

Energy Efficiency & Environmental Management

During the reporting year LumiraDx UK Ltd has been focusing on transitioning to a renewable energy tariffs. Currently,
80% of our sites have transitioned; with the remaining 20% due to be transitioned o_hce contractual obligations allow.
LumiraDx UK Ltd are keen to increase the energy efficiency of our operations and utilise on-site renewable energy
sources where possible. Our sites within the highest energy consumption, are currently undergoing structural surveys
for the installation of solar PV arrays. Providing permission is obtained, installations will commence by the end of 2022
and will increase the propomon of energy from renewable sources.

During the 2021 financial year, we have also installed EV chargers at two of our larger sites and plan to install further
charge points across other sites by the end of 2022. This initiative is designed to support and encourage our employees
to transition to electrlc or hybrid vehicles. To encourage recycllng and reduce waste upllft from our largest site, we
have installed ballng and compacting équipment to enhance our existing waste management activities.

On Behalf of the Board

DocuSigned by
R Zwanziger KAVL ﬁWM\/‘)I@W
Director CB08F391606845A. .

Date: 30 September 2022
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT, THE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year.
Under that law they have elected to prepare both the group and the parent company financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and
apphcable law.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of the group’s profit or loss for that period.
In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
« make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;
o state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EY;

« assess the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and

¢ use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companles Act 2006. They are
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

On Behalf of the Board DocuSigned by:
R Zwanziger wa ZW MW
Director CO0BF391608845A ..

30 September 2022



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of LumiraDx Group Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December
2021 which comprise the Consolidated statement of profit and loss and comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
financial position, company statement of financial position, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated
statement of cash flows and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion:

o the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2021 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

e the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the
Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the financial statements which indicates that the group’s ability to continue as a going concern
may be dependent on its ability to obtain waivers of covenant violations, or restructure or reschedule its maturing loan
obligations. These events and conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 2, constitute a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis. As stated above, they have concluded that
a material uncertainty related to going concern exists.

Our conclusion based on our financial statements audit work: we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud To identify risks of material misstatement due to
fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide
an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

s ehquiring of directors, and the audit committee, as to the group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and
detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

¢ reading Board minutes; and
e considering remuneration incentive schemes including the granting of share options to directors and employees.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout
the audit. This included communication from the group to component audit teams of relevant fraud risks identified at the
group level and request to component audit teams to report to the group audit team any instances of fraud that could give rise
to a material misstatement at group.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet targets, we perform procedures to
address the risk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in particular the risk that
product revenue is recorded in the wrong period and the risk that group and component management may be in a position to
make inappropriate accounting entries.

We also identified a fraud risk related to going concern in response to the company’s increased spending in respect of
launching its COVID-19 test and associated instrument.

We performed procedures including:
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¢ identifying journal entries to test for all full scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries
to supporting

e documentation. These included thosé posted to unusual accounts and those posted to revenue accounts; and
¢ evaluated the business purpose of significant unusual transactions.
e  assessing significant accounting estimates for bias

 considered sensitivities over the level of available financial resources indicated by the Group’s financial forecasts taking
account of severe but plausible downsides that could arise from these risks individually and collectively,

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements from our general commercial and sector experience through discussion with the directors and other management
(as required by auditing standards) and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures
‘regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting
legislation (including related companies legislation), and taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a
material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation.
We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: product safety, recognising the nature of the
group’s activities is the manufacture and sale of Diagnostic systems and tests. Auditing standards limit the required audit
procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and
inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed
to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material
misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with
auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing
standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect
material misstatement.

We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all
laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements
or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

. in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements;
and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
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¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As éxplained more fully in their statement set out on page 8, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the ﬁnanc1al
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such mternal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
assessing the Group and parent Company s ability to continue as a going concern, dlsclosmg, as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the
parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
mlsstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, md|v1dually orin

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decmons of users taken on the basis of the ﬁnancnal
statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org. uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

/@éa&@a%

Sabira Datoo (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

KPMG LLP

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

30 September 2022
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 5D328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED CON_SOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31,
2020 2021
Note (in thousands, except share data and EPS)

Revenue :

Products 4 $ 135,656 $ 415,654
Services - ' 4 3497 5,774 |
Total Revenue 139,153 421,428
Cost of sales -
Products (84,456) ' (268,835)
Services 1,750 (1,053)]
Total Cost of Sales (86,206) ~(269,888)
Gross Profit 52,947 151,540 |
Research and development éxpenses ' (107,539) ) (130,221)
Selling, marketing and administrative expenses ' (46,122) (119,070)
Listing expenses ) . 27 _ - . (8)595)
Operating Loss (100,714) (106,346))
Finance income 6 22,500 60
Finance expense 6 v (12,416) o (50,209)]
Net finance income/(expense) 10,084 (50,149)
Loss before Tax (90,630) (156,495)]
Tax credit/(expense) for the period 7 9946 . _(2,344)
Loss for the period » $ (80,684)_$ (159,339))
Loss/(gain) attributable to non-controlling interest 9 (17) ‘ 174
,I.\J_et-i;)'ss attributable to équity holders of parent—basic and ’ ]
diluted $. (80,667)_$ (159,513)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 50328851-GB4A-4FGF-87F2-72CF5280014E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER AS OF ,
31, 2020 DECEMBER 31, 2021
Note (in thousands, except shar¢ data) )
ASSETS R d
Non—Current Assets )
Other non-current assets ___ $ 241 $ 569 |
Intangibles and goodwill 10 40,723 37,048
Right-of-use assets 24 10,386 27,746 |
Property, plant and equipment 11 87,082 173,397
TTotal Non-Current Assets v - -~ 138432 - 238,760
Current Assets . . :
Inventories _ 12 85,516 ‘ 149,055 }
Tax receivable 7 20,680 15,022
Trade and other receivables 13 117,455 , 121,870 1
Restricted cash 2 2,455 -
Cash and cash equivalents 155,753 _ R 114,261 |
Total Current Assets 381,859 A ___400,208
TOTAL ASSETS s 520,291 ___§ 638,968 |
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY o o '
Liabilities ]
Non-Current Liabilities
Debt due after more than one year 17 $ (80,620) $ (301,129))]
Lease liabilities (1,986) (25,514)
Deferred tax liabilities 19 . (1,230) ] (779)]
Total Non-Current Liabilities (83,836) (327,422)
Current Liabilities " A‘
Debt due within one year 17 (395) (191)
Government and other grants 21 '(44,037) - Q&,gﬂ)}
Trade and other payables 20 (95,246) (98,276)
Lease liabilities due within one year : (9,119 (5,582)}
Total Current Liabilities - (148,797) (142,990)
Equity ]
Share capital and share premium 14 (110,556) (110,556)
Foreign currency translation reserve 19,905 19,706 §
Other reserves 14 (611,139) (653,145)
A ccumulated deficit 413,925 574,984 }
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent B (287,865) (169,011)
Non-controlling interests 9 01 ‘ 455 §
Total Equity ] (287,658) (168,556)
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES $ (520291)___§ (638,968)!

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

DocuSIgneci by:

Kow. Bwanrjier

R Zwanziger, Director CO0BFI01608B45A.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 5D0328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED ' COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF DECEMBER  AS OF DECEMBER

Note 31, 2020 31, 2021
ASSETS ] - -
Non-Current Assets
Investment in subsidiaries 12 89,743 93,061 ]
Loans to group undertakings due after more than one year 15 566,248 841,365
Total Non-Current Assets - 655,991 934,426 |
Current Assets ' '
Loans to group undertakings due within one year 15 37,983 56,014 ]
Trade and other receivables 17 52,640 96,174
Cash and cash equivalents 115,921 o 31,871 ]
Total Current Assets . 206,544 . 184,059
TOTAL ASSETS - 862,535 1,118,485 |
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY ‘ '
Liabilities )|
Non-Current Liabilities
Debt due after more than one year (82,821) ~ (319,041)]
Total Non-Current Liabilities : (82,821) . (319,041)
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (10,844) (35,023)
Government and other grants ? (42,182) o 7(38,910)]
Total Current Liabilities (53,026) (73,933)
Equity____ ]
Share capital - -
Share premium 18 (110,556) (110,556))
Other reserves 18 (613,640) (652,549)
Accumulated deficit (2,492) o 737,594]
Total Equity (726,688) (725,511)
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (862,535) 11 18,485)]

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:
Kow éwmxbv)u"
R Zwanziger, Director Ecgommow“m

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 5D328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
NON-
SHARE SHARE TRANSLATION OTHER ACCUMULATED CONTROLLING TOTAL
CAPITAL PREMIUM _ RESERVES  RESERVES _ DEFICIT TOTAL INTEREST EQUITY

" (in thousands)

Balance at January 1, : : o ‘
2020 $ —$.110,556 % (2,341)8,.374,226 § (333,258)$.149,183_% (194)$ 148,989
Loss for the period — — — — (80,667)  (80,667) (17)__ (80,684)
:6ther comprehensive
loss
Currency translation
differences — —_ (17564)  — —__ {17,564) 4 _ (17,560)
{Total comprehensive T o o
loss for the . .

period ' L — — (17,564)  —  (80,667) (98,231) (13) _ (98,244)
Equity compensation
plans ‘ , — — — 3,191 - 3,191 — 3,191
Capital contributions — — — 233315 233315 — _ 233315]
Issue of other equity . ' a
instruments - = — 407 — 407 — 407

ransaction with
owners, recognized

directly in equity — - — 236,913 - 236,913 — 236,913 ]
Changes in non- '
controlling interests — — — — — - — —
Balance at December o v '"

31,2020 $ — § 110,556 § (19,905)$ 611,1398 . (413,925)$ 287,865 § . (207)$ 287,658
Balance at January 1, - _ i )

2021 $ — § 110,556 $ (19,905)8_611,139 % (413,925) % 287,865_% (207) % 287,658
Loss for the period — — — e (159,513) (i59,513) 174 (159,339)
Other comprehensive :

loss

Currency translation

differences e ) — — 199 - 199

{Total comprehensive
loss for the

| period - = 199 — (159,513) (159,314) 174 __(159,140)
Equity compensation '

plans — — — 33,909 - 33,909 — 33,909
Capital Contributions — — — 2,961 — 2,961 — 2,9_6_1_]
Issue of other equity

instruments = = _— 5136 — 5136 — 5136
Transaction with - B T T
owners, recognized

|_directly in equity — — — 42,006 - 42,006 — 42,006
Changes in non- ' ‘

controlling interests - — ) — — (1,546) (1,546)  (422)  (1,968)
Balance at December ’ h - . B
31, 2021 $ — $ 110,556 $ (19,706)$ 653,145 § (574,984) $ 169,011 $ (455) § 168,556

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 50328851-GB4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280014E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

, _Attributable to owners of the Company
SHARE SHARE OTHER ACCUMULATED TOTAL

CAPITAL PREMIUM RESERVES DEFECIT EQUITY
Balance at 1 January 2020 - 110,556 376,727 (22,177)__ 465,106 |
Income for the period - - - 24,669 24,669
Other comprehensive income ]
Currency translation differences - - - , - -
Total comprehensive income for the - T -
period ) - e - 24,669 24,669
Capital Contributions - e 233,315 - 233,315
Equity_ compensationplans - - 3,191 - 3,191 ]
Issue of other equity instruments e 407 - 407
Transaction with owners, recognised T ) '
directly in equity - - 236,913 - '236,21§J
Changes in non-controlling interests - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2020 - 110,556 613,640 2,492 726,688]
Balance at 1 January 2021 - 110,556 613,640 2,492 726,_6_8_8__]
Inéome for the period - - - (40,086)  (40,086)
Other comprehensive income ]
Currency translation differences - - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the - T - o
period - - - (40,086) {40,086)
Capital Contributions ’- - 5,000 - 5,000
Equity compensation plans - - 33,909 - 33,909]
Transaction with owners, recognised R - '
directly in equity - - 38,909 - 38,909
Changes in non-controlling interests - - - -]
Balance at 31 December 2021 - 110,556 652,549 (37,594) 725,511

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 5D328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEARENDED  YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31,
2020 2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities ]
Loss for the period $ (80,684) $ (159,339)
‘Adjustments to reconcile loss for the year to net cash used

in operating activities:

Depreciation 8,527 22,868
fAmortization 2,387 2,827 ]
Net finance expenses (10,084) 50,173
Equity based share based payment transactions 3,191 33,909 ]
Increase in tax receivable (11,269) (4,663)
Changes to working capital: '

Inventories (73,302) (66,874)
|_Trade and other receivables (96,537) 3,599 |

Trade payables and other liabilities 100,997 ] (5,433)
Net Cash used in Operating Activities ‘ (156,7?4) 3 (122,9333_1
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of property, plant, equipment __ (64,381) (106,346))
Net Cash used in Investing Activities (64,381) (106,346)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities e .
Capital Contribution from parent 233,315 3,545
Proceeds from debt issuance, net of issuance costs 62,391 361,830 ]
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (3,054) (5,429)
Cash interest paid, net of interest received (4,621) (21,336)]
E_a_r_ly extinguishment of debt (3,600) (3,637)
Cash issued for non-controlling interest - (1,968)]
Repayments of debt (40,396) (140,552)
‘I:I-et Cash generated from Financing Activities ) 244,035 192453 ]
Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 22,880 § (36,826)
Movement in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3 136,422 § 158,208
Exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents (1,094) (7,121)
Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ‘ 22,880 (36,826)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year $ 158,208 __§ 114,261 _]

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope I1D: 50328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements are the Annual Financial Statements of LumiraDx Group Limited (“the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”).

The Company is a private limited company which is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. Its registered office

address is 3 More Riverside, Londoh, SE1 2AQ. The subsidiaries of the Company are listed in Note 12.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

21

Basis of preparation of Financial Statements

The consolidated Financial Statements of LumiraDx Group Limited have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the EU. These financial statements are prepared at
the request of the Directors to meet other regulatory and contractual commitments.

The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated Financial Statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

The Company has elected to take the exemption under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from presenting the
Parent Company Statement of Comprehensive Income. The loss for the Company for the period was $40,086,000
(2020: $24,669,000 income).

Going concern

The Group has financed its operations principally through issuances of debt and equity securities, and the Group
requires ongoing additional funding to continue to develop its commercial operations and research and development
projects for future products.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the directors consider to be appropriate
for the following reasons.

The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these
financial statements which indicate that the Group will have sufficient funds to meet their liabilities as they fall due for
that period (the going concern period).

The Group has minimum committed expenses including payroll for current employees, lease and other contractual
commitments and interest payments on debt obligations of approximately $13,000 per month; however, the Group
will be required to spend considerably more in order to continue to execute on its entire strategic business plan.

In March 2022 the Group entered into privately negotiated subscription agreements with certain investors wherein
the Group sold and investors purchased $56,500 of Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes dué 2027. The notes
bear annual interest of 6%, payable semi-annually in arrears starting September 1, 2022. The notes mature on March
1, 2027 and are convertible at the holder's option at an initial conversion rate of approximately $9.22 per share.

In April 2022 the Group consummated the first closing of a private placement offering pursuant to which it received
an initial investment of $26.1 million in cash and entered into an Instrument Financing Agreement with USB Focus
Fund LumiraDx 2A, LLC, USB Focus Fund LumiraDx 2B, LLC and certain other related investors (collectively, the
“Investors”), and Pear Tree Partners, L.P. The terms of the Instrument Financing Agreement provide that the Investors
may invest up to an aggregate maximum amount of $50 million in the Group, or such higher amount as agreed to by
the Company and the Investors (the “Invested Amount”), in one or more closings, in order to fund the purchase of
additional LumiraDx instruments, allowing the Group to further expand instrument placements. In consideration of
such investment, the Group has agreed to pay to the Investors on a semi-annual basis and over a three-year period
(subject to extension in certain events), a payment that is equal to 20% of the total gross amount invoiced by the
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 5D0328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2

Group in respect of sales of test strips for use in such funded LumiraDx instruments which are allocated to the Invested
Amount by the Company in accordance with the terms of the Instrument Financing Agreement (the “Instrument
Financing Payments”). In June 2022 the Group closed an additional $15.4 million with the Investors.

The 2021 Senior Secured Loan matures in March 2024 and contains customary covenants including achieving certain
revenue levels for the years ending December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and maintaining minimum liquidity leveis.
The Group met the 2021 revenue covenant and has met the minimum liquidity levels. For the 2022 revenue covenant
and quarterly liquidity levels, the Group's short-term revenue prospects and liquidity levels will vary with the amount
of demand for its SARS-CoV-2 products. While the directors believe that the Group’s SARS-CoV-2 products will
continue to remain in high demand as COVID-19 vaccines are available, the continued efficacy of such vaccines or
the mitigation of the COVID-19 pandemic earlier than expectéd for any other reason could negatively impact demand
for the Group’s Platform and sales of its Instrument, test strips and other products. In addition, competitors may
produce more accurate tests or tests which receive more favorable demand, both of which may impact the Group’s
revenue streams and ability to meet the covenants.

On June 17, 2022, the Group entered into a second amendment to the 2021 Senior Secured Loan, to provide for,
among other things, immediate revisions to the minimum net sales and the minimum liquidity covenants (the
“Amendment”). If the Group completes a Qualifying Financing as defined in the Amendment, further revisions to the
covenants take effect. '

In July, the Group closed a secondary public stock offering. The gross proceeds from the offering were $75 million.
In addition to the shares being sold in the public offering, the Group also sold additional shares to raise gross proceeds
of approximately $25.0 million in a concurrent private placement to one of its existing investors, the Bill & Melinda
Gates Foundation. The underwriters had a 30-day option to purchase additional common shares at the public offering
price and purchased $7 million of shares in August. In total, the Group received net proceeds of approximately $100
million after fees and commissions.

The directors believe that, if necessary, they will be able to obtain waivers of covenant violations or restructure the
existing obligations, although there are no guarantees that these will be achieved. The directors believe the Group
and company will be able to meet their liabilities as they fall due for the going concern period and have therefore
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. However, these circumstances represent a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore, to continue realizing their assets and discharging their liabilities in the normal course of business. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result from the basis of preparation being
inappropriate.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated Financial Statements consolidate the Financial Statements of LumiraDx Group Limited and its
subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 December 2021.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the Company
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Company. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable
net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held

equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances _and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group's accounting policies.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Investments
The major investments of the Group are listed in Note 12. Ownership interests equal voting rights.

The Group assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable. If any such indication of impairment exists, the Group makes
an estimate of the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the value
of the investment, the investment is considered to be impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Any
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

In 2021 the Group did not implement, nor were they aware of, any new accounting pronouncements that had a
material impact on the Group's financial statements.

Revenue recognition

The Group's revenue is generated primarily from the sale of diagnostic products, including instruments and
consumables. The Group's services revenue includes the maintenance on software licenses, access to hosted cloud
offerings and training, support and other services related to the Group’s diagnostic products.

Revenue from the sale or lease of goods and services rendered are recognized when a promise in a customer
contract (“performance obligation”) has been satisfied by transferring control of the promised goods and services to
the customer. Control of a promised good or service refers to the ability to direct the use of, and to obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits from, those goods or services. Control is usually transferred upon shipment or upon
receipt of goods by the customer, or as services are rendered, in accordance with the delivery and acceptance terms
agreed with the customers. The amount of revenue to be recognized (“transaction price”) is based on the
consideration the Group expects to receive in exchange for its goods and services, excluding amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added taxes or other taxes directly linked to sales. If a contract contains more
than one performance obligation, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on their
relative standalone selling prices.

The determination of the standalone selling price requires judgment. The Group's determination of the standalone
selling price for each performance obligation varies based on the geography and customer type. Generally, the
standalone selling prices are based on observable prices. When observable prices are not available, the standalone
selling price for products and services and for determination of amounts allocated for lease consideration in contracts
with customers is based on a cost-plus margin approach.

Instruments may be sold together with other goods such as test strips, reagents and other consumables as well as
services under a single contract or under several contracts that are combined for revenue recognition purposes.
Revenue is recognized upon satisfaction of each of the performance obligations in the contract.

Research and development

Expenditure on research and development activities is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The Group will

capitalize devélopment expenditures once the Group incurs expenditures related to technologies or products under
development with proven technical feasibility. The development projects undertaken by the Group are subject to
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technical, regulatory and other uncertainties, such that, technical feasibility is deemed not to have been met prior to
obtaining marketing approval by the regulatory authorities in major markets.

2.7 Foreign Currency Translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in each of the Financial Statements of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The Group Financial
Statements are presented in US Dollars (stated in 000's) which is the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where such items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilites denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement within
‘Finance income’ and ‘Finance expense’.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each Statement of Financial Position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that Statement of Financial Position;

. income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

. all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

2.8 Property, Plant and Equipment

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income during the financial period in which they are incurred. No depreciation is charged on assets in the course of
construction ahead of their productive use.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

o Land and buildings — length of the lease up to 15 years
e Plant and equipment - 3-15 years
e  Fixtures and fittings - 3-7 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
the Income Statement.
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2.9 Right-of-Use Assets

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets.
For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate which is based on the Group’s recent borrowings.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

« fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

» the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever

« the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate.

e the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is measured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

« a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which -
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made
at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which
it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a
provision is recognised and measured under |AS 37. The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects
to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts
for any identified impairment loss as described in Note 2.11 (d).

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability and the
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right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “other expenses” in the statement of profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for
any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical
expedient.

2.10 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income
statement.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash generating units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the
entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level. Currently the Group operates in a single segment and the goodwill is assessed at a
single CGU.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Patents

Acquired patents and patent applications are shown at acquired cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation will be calculated using the straight line method to allocate the cost of patents over their estimated
useful economic lives, calculated as the lower of management'’s estimated useful life or the time remaining on
the granted patent, once brought into use.

Intangible assets acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial
recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Separately recognised intangible assets comprise customer relationships and contracts, supplier
relationships, technology and software. Amortisation is calculated either using the straight line method or over
the asset's economic useful life based on cash flow projections. Customer related intangibles and supplier
relationships are amortised over 7 to 10 years. Technology and software are amortised over 8 to 10 years.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets not ready for use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are
subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.

2.11 Financial instruments

(a)

Classification

From 1 January 2018 the Group classifies its financial instruments in the following categories (as disclosed in
Note 27): amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss {equity investments).
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

At initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables which comprise ‘trade
and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. The Group’s loans
and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of
Financial Position.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost comprise trade and other payables, loans and other financial liabilities.
Recognition and Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to thé acquisition of the
financial asset. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost (with the exception of
equity investments which are measured at fair value through profit or loss) using the effective interest method
less a provision for impairment.

The Financial liabilities are initially recognised at the amount to be required to be paid, less, when material, a
discount to reduce the payables to fair value. Financing costs are recorded as a reduction of the proceeds from
the financing. If the costs relate to more than one element of a financing transactions, the financing costs are
recorded as a proportional reduction of the proceeds of the separate elements. Financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. These are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Derecognition also takes place for certain assets when the Group write-off balances pertaining to the assets
deemed to be uncollectible.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
Where there has been a significant modification of a financial liability the Group derecognises the original
financial liability and recognises the modified liability at fair value with any difference between the amortised cost
of the derecognised liability and the fair value of the modified liability being recognised in comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets

At each Statement of Financial Position date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that
financial assets are impaired. Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and the loss event has an impact on the future cash
flows of the asset that can be estimated reliably.

For the loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred), discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying
amount is reduced, and the loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis
of an instrument's fair value using an observable market price.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the impairment loss is reversed
through the Income Statement.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a Group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments, the probability that they will enter
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bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defauits.

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

For trade and other receivables, the Group measures the allowance for doubtful accounts at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL.

Financial assets are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the customer does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are carried at the original invoiced amount less allowances made for doubtful accounts,
trade discounts, cash discounts and similar attowances. An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded for expected
credit losses over the term of the receivables. These are based on specific indicators, such as the ageing of customer
balances and other specific credit circumstances. Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group applies the simplified approach prescribed by IFRS 9, which requires
/ permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision from initial recognition of the receivables.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
In the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and bank overdrafts. In the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, bank overdrafts, if
any, are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

2.14 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in

the normal operating cycle of the busingss if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.15 Provisions and charges
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The present value of the liability is remeasured at the reporting date.

2.16 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are reécognised in the Income Statement in the period in which they are incurred.

2.17 Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds,

net of tax. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments as consideration for the acquisition
of a business are included inh the cost of acquisition.
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2.18 Share based payment

2.19

2.20

The Company operates equity-settied, share-based compensation plans under which the entity receives services or
other consideration from employees and other unrelated parties for equity instruments of the Company. The fair value
of the services and consideration received in exchange for the grant of options is recognised as an expense and as
a component of equity. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted. When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds
received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to sharé capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

Taxation

The tax expense or credit comprises current and deferred tax. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the Statement of Financial Position date. Subsidiaries within the Group may be eligible
for tax credits related to qualifying research and development expenditures. The Group records an asset as a
reduction in tax expense when it determines the receipt of a tax credit is probable.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction, which affects neither the tax profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is
calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when it relates to items
credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Pension Obligations

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution pension plans for employees. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are paid.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual resuilts may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are

recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. In particular, information about
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significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amount recognized in the financial statements are described below.

Revenue Recognition

The Group's sales transactions may consist of various performance obligations that are satisfied at different times. it
requires judgment to determine when different obligations are satisfied, including whether enforceable commitments
for further obligations exist and when they arise. Depending on the determination of the performance obligations and
the point in time or period over which those obligations are fulfilled, this may result in all revenue being calculated at
inception, and either being recognized at once or on contract completion or spread over the term of a longer
performance obligation.

In the accounting for contracts that contain promises to deliver more than one good or service, the Group has to
determine how to allocate the total transaction price to the performance obligations of the contract. The Group
allocates the total transaction price of a customer contract to the distinct performance obligations under the contract
based on their standalone selling prices. The best evidence of this is an observable price from the standalone sales
of the good or service to similarly situated customers. However, where standalone selling prices are not observable,
it requires judgment to estimate the cost of satisfying a performance obligation and adding an appropriate margin to
that good or service.

Nonrecurring valuations

The Group's nonrecurring valuations are primarily associated with (i) the application of acquisition accounting and (ii)
impairment assessments, both of which require fair value determinations as of the applicable valuation date. iIn
making these determinations, the Group is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded
amounts, including, but not limited to expected future cash flows, and discount rates, and remaining useful lives of
long-lived assets. To assist in making these fair value determinations, the Group may engage third party valuation
specialists. Estimates in this area impact, among other items, the amount of depreciation and amortization,
impairment charges and income tax expense or credit. Estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions
management believes to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain. A significant portion of our long-lived
assets were initially recorded through the application of acquisition accounting and all of our long-lived assets are
subject to impairment assessments.

The Group regularly review whether changes to estimated useful lives are required in order to accurately reflect the
economic use of our intangible assets with finite lives.

The Group had net intangible assets of $24,732 and $21,442 as of December 31, 2020 and 2021, respectively.
Management has reviewed the estimated value as of December 31, 2021.

Share-Based Payments

The Group operates equity-settled, share-based compensation plans under which the Group receives services or
other consideration from employees and other unrelated parties for our equity instruments. The fair value of the
services and consideration received in exchange for the grant of options is recognized as an expense and as a
component of equity. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted. The fair value of the share options was determined using a Black-Scholes valuation
model. No performance conditions were included in the fair value calculations.

Fair Value of Share Options

The fair value of each award on the grant date is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-
Scholes model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected volatility, the risk-free rate,
expected life and the dividend yield. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of several comparable
companies in the same industry. The expected life is based on the longer of each tranche’s respective weighted-
average vesting term or the expected term to a liquidity event. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life
of the options is based on the market yield of U.S. Treasury Bonds in effect at the time of grant. The dividend yield is
based on the Company’s expected dividend policy over the contractual life of the options.
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The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the share options granted are as follows:

2021
2020* Employées .__Founders

Grant date fair value (§) 1,634tc 137t

l : 3,861 4.02 1.26 t0 2.85
Exercise price ($) 1,793 to 9.89 to 16.96 to

3,861 16.39 17.05

Volatility CL. 35-40% 40.0% 40.0% |
Dividend yield o _ _
Expected life of option (years) " ] 2:2.5 4-625 4-625 |
Annual risk free interest rate 0.2-1.6% ]02.;1; 0.78-1.22%
{Total fair value of options granted 'S 6,716 $ 8,567-—$ 43,887 _|

*Amounts not adjusted for 2021 share splits
Fair Value of Ordinary Shares

The Group utilizes the fair value of ordinary shares when determining the fair value of financial instruments as well
as determining the fair value of the ordinary shares underlying its options when performing the fair value calculations
with the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Therefore, the directors have estimated the fair value of the Group's
ordinary shares at various dates, with input from management, considering the third-party valuations of ordinary
shares. The valuations of ordinary shares were performed using methodologies, approaches and assumptions
consistent with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Audit and Accounting Practice Aid Series:
Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation, or the AICPA Practice Guide. In
addition, the directors considered various objective and subjective factors, along with input from management and
the independent third-party valuatlon firm, to determme the fair value of ordinary shares, including: external market
conditions affecting the industry, trends within the industry, the results of operations, financial posmon status of our
research and development efforts, our stage of development and business strategy, and the lack of an active public
market for the Group's ordinary shares, and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event such as an initial public
offering, or IPO..

The valuations of the Group's ordinary shares were prepared using an option pricing method, or OPM, and a
probability-weighted expected return method, or PWERM. The PWERM is a scenario-based methodology that
estimates the fair value of ordinary shares based upon an analysis of future values for the Group, assuming various
outcomes. The ordinary shares’ value is based on the probability-weighted present value of expected future
investment returns considering each of the possible outcomes available, as well as the rights of each share class.
The future value of the ordinary shares under each outcome is discounted back to the valuation date at an appropriate
risk-adjusted discount rate and probability weighted to arrive at an indication of value for the ordinary shares. The
OPM treats ordinary shares and preferred shares as call options on the total equity value of a company, with exercise
prices based on the value thresholds at which the allocation among the various holders of a company’s securities
changes. Under this method, the ordinary shares have value only if the funds available for distribution to shareholders
exceeded the value of the preferred share liquidation preferences at the time of the liquidity event, such as a strategic
sale or a merger. A discount for lack of marketability of the ordinary shares is then applied to arrive at an estimate of
value for the ordinary shares.

In addition to considering the results of these third-party valuations, the directors considered various objective and
subjective factors to determine the fair value of ordinary shares as of each grant date, including:

s the prices at which the Group issued ordinary and preferred shares and the superior rights and preferences
of the preferred shares relative to the ordinary shares at the time of each grant;

the progress of the Group's research and development programs;

the stage of development and the Group's business strategy;

external market conditions affecting the Group’s industry and trends within the industry;

the Group’s financial position, including cash on hand, and historical and forecasted performance and
operating results;

the lack of an active public market for the Group’s ordinary shares and preferred shares;

o the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPQ, in light of prevailing market conditions; and

« the analysis of IPOs and the market performance of similar companies in the Group’s industry.

32



DocuSign Envelope ID: 5D328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

The Group utilizes the fair value of its Ordinary shares when determining the fair value of financial instruments, as
well as determining the Group estimates.

The assumptions underlying these valuations represented management's best estimates, which involved inherent
uncertainties and the application of management'’s judgment. As a result, if the assumptions or estimates used had
been significantly different, the fair value of ordinary shares and share-based payment expense could be matenally
different.

Product Reserves

The Group provides standard commercial warranties on its products. Separately, the Group also periodically performs
field service actions related to safety matters and other product campaigns. Pursuant to these warranties and field
service actions, the Group will repair or replace products that are defective in materials or workmanship. The Group
accrues the estimated cost of both base warranty coverages and field service actions at the time of sale. Provisions
for warranties of $5,801 (2020: $6,557) are recorded in the balance sheet within trade and other payables (Note 20).
The Group is able to senvice Platform instruments returned by customers. The Group has estimated the number of
returned instruments that are anticipated being able to be serviced and returned to customers and have reserved
against those instruments not expécted to be serviced.

The Group maintains an allowance for excess or obsolete inventories. The allowance is based on a review of
inventory materials on hand, which the Group compares with estimated future usage. In addition, the Group reviews
the inventories and compares parts costs with current market value and writes down any parts with costs in excess
of current market value to net realizable value. Provisions for inventories of $22,829 (2020: $13,186) are recorded
in the balance sheet within inventory.

These estimates take into consideration historical experience, current contractual and statutory requirements, specific
known market events and trends such as competitive pricing and new product introductions, estimated inventory
levels, and the shelf life of products. As 2020 was the first year of significant sales of its diagnostic platform, the Group
has limited history to make these estimates. If actual future results vary, these estimates may need to be adjusted,
with an effect on sales and earnings in the period of the adjustment. Actual resuits could differ from these estimates.

REVENUE

Disaggregation of Revenue

2020 2021
REVENUE ' REVENUE
FROM REVENUE FROM REVENUE
CONTRACTS  FROM CONTRACTS  FROM
REVENUE WITH OTHER WITH OTHER
STREAM CUSTOMERS SOURCES _ TOTAL _ CUSTOMERS SOURCES _ TOTAL
Products $ 133794 § 862 § 135656 $ 414114 $ 1,540 $ 415654
Services 3497 0 — 3497 5774 — 5,774
Total Revenue $ 137,291 § 862 $ 139,153 $ 419,888 $ 1,540 $ 421,428 |

Revenue from diagnostic products is recognized at the time the performance obligations are met. Service revenue is
recognized over the contractual term. Revenue from other sources represents lease revenue on instruments.

Contract Balances

Service revenue is typically billed in advance giving rise to a contract liability balance. The deferred balance as of December
31, 2021 and 2020 is $1,517 and $1,760, respectively. As the Company generally recognizes revenue as goods are sold
for product revenue, the Company does not have other material contract asset or liability balances as of December 31,
2021.
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Remaining performance obligations in (partially) unsatisfied long-term contracts:

DEFERRED

REVENUE

_ 2020 2021

Balance at start of the period . . _ _ 2,639 1,760 ]
Recognized revenue from prior years' invoicing ) (2,348) (1 ,760)
Amounts invoiced to be rec‘o-gr;zed overtime____. . 2509 4,149 |
Recogmzed revenue from current year 1nv01cmg ] (‘1 ,131) (2,703)'
Foreign exchange impact o 91 - _ 71
Balance at end of the period 1,760 1,517

Remaining performance obligations in (partially) unsatlsﬁed long-term contracts are included in deferred revenue. For
contracts that have an original duration of one year or less, the Group has elected the practical expedient to not dlsclose
the transacnon price for remaining. performance obligations at the end of each reporting period and at which point in tlme

the Group expects to recognlse these sales.
5. SEGMENTS

Basis for segmentation:

The CEO is the Group's chief operating decision maker (‘“CODM”). The regular internal reporting to the CEQ, which fulfils
the criteria to constitute a segment, is done for the Group as a whole, and we therefore report the total Group as the
Group’s only segment. Revenue from external customers by country, based on the destination of the customer is as

follows:

ANALYSIS OF REVENUE BY COUNTRY: 2020 2021

United States $ 54,655 % 250,755 1
ltaly ) 24,098 65,659
United Kingdom ' . . 39,936 56,282 |
Germany 1,462 16,261
Colombia . N 8,789 12,101 }
Sweden . ) 3,128 6,954
Netherlands . 101 2,610 |
Switzerland 581 2,491
Brazil . 3,209 2,320 §
Japan — 2,251
Austria 1,622 2,002 ]
Spain — 1,014
Denmark : 1,354 . 98 ]
Other ] 218 _ 630
Total revenue R $ 139,153 _§  421,428]

In 2021 the Group had 1 significant customer which accounted for 45% of the Group's revenue. In 2020 the Group had 2
sngnlfcant customers which accounted for 29% and 17% of the Group’s revenue, respectlvely

Non-current assets by country are as follows:

ANALYSIS OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS BY COUNTRY: 2020 2021
United Kingdom s T Mm5a35_s. 199312
United States ) 7,9_85 22,537
Ttaly - 9,280 10,600
Colombia V ) ) 4,306 3,780
Sweden D 593 630 |
Other ' 1,133 1,901
Total ~ $ 138,432 _$ 238,760 ]
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6. EXPENSES BY NATURE

The operating loss of $106,346,000 (2020: $100,714,000) is stated after charging:

Group 2020 2021
Deprematlon (Note 14) , L 5,717 17,275
Amortisation (Note 13) . 2,387 2.827] -
Lease Liability Payments (Note 27) ] 3,054 - 5,429
‘Auditor remuneration (Note 7) - 1,627 1,100 ]

7. AUDITOR REMUNERATION

Durmg the year, the Group (mcludmg its overseas subS|d|ar|es) obtained the followmg servicés from the Company s auditor:

2020 2021
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the aud|t of the Group and ) :
[_consolidated Financial Statements , _ : 1,627 1,086
8. STAFF COSTS
The Group and Company incurred the following staff costs (including Directors): ‘
' 2020 2021
Wages and salaries ’ 49,340 104,464 |
Social security costs ) 5,770 10,851
Pension costs - 2,070 4,347}
Share option expense (Note 18) , 3,191 33,909
Total . : ' - . , 60,371 153,571
Directors’ Emoluments
The Directors’ emoluments in respect of qualifying services were:
Company 2020 2021
Directors’ salary and fees ' : 537, 1,]_@]
Social security costs 62 60
Other benefits N ' . 62 19}
1,824

Total ’ . 661

The Company’s Directors are the Key Management Personnel for the Group and their compensation is included in the

Directors’ emoluments above.

The aggregate of remuneration and amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes of the highest paid director
was $767,000 (2020: $257,000), and Company pension coritributions of $15,000 (2020: $15, 000) were made to a money
purchase scheme on their behalf. They were not granted any share options in 2021 or 2020, nor were they entitled to any

benefits under long term incentive plans.
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9.

10.

No amounts were paid to third parties in respect of directors’ services in 2021 or 2020. The average monthly number of
staff; including the Directors, during the financial period was as follows:

2020 2021
, , No. No.
Sa|es,49enera| and admmlstratlve : 320 387
Research and development . 297 417,
Manufacturing : - 189 525 |
Total . 786 1,329
FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE EXPENSE
2020 2021
Net gam on conversion of convertible financial instruments $ - 3 -
Change in fair value of 2020 convertible notes (Note 17) - -]
Change in fair value of Series B preferred shares (Note 16) - -
Interest Income $ 581 __§ 60 1
Forelgn exchange gain ' 21,908 -
Other T 11 -]
Finance income ) $ 22,500 § 60]
Interest éxpense (cash) $ (5,202) § (21,396)
Interest expense (non-cash) . . (816) @:&0.3)]
Lease liability interest expense (Note 24) (751) (2,501)
Foreign exchange loss ] - (14,594)]
Debt extinguishment fee (cash) - (3,636)
Debt extinguishment fee (non-cash) (5,647) (4,170)]
Other _ ] _ . ] - ___(109)
Finance expense - $ (12,416)_$ (50,209)!
INCOME TAXES
TAX CREDIT FOR THE PERIOD 2020 2021
Current income credit / (tax) ) . - 1
- Current year $ 10,320 § (4,087)
£ Prior years ) —1
Total current income credit / (tax) 9,553 (4,087)
Deferred income tax credit - : )
- Current year 393 1,243
L Prior years — =]
Total deferred income credit ) 393 1 243
Total income tax credit/(expense) $ 9,946 __ % (2,844),;

Included in current year income credit are $nil (2020: $10,479,000) and $nil (2020: $772,000) related to the research and
development tax credits for the current year and prior years, respectively.

The prior year adjustment, in relation to the research and development tax credit, has arisen following an increase in the
eligible expenditure included within the claim filing made with the tax authorities.

In 2021, the group transitioned from the small company scheme to the research and development expenditure credit
scheme ("RDEC"), see Note 21.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
In the March 3, 2021 U.K. budget, it was announced that the U.K. tax rate will increase lo 25% from April 1, 2023. This will

not have a consequential effect on the Group’s recognized deferred taxes, however the Group has substantial
unrecognized U.K. net operating losses (Note 19).
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2020 2021
Loss for the period before taxation : : ) 90,630 _$ 156,455:‘
Tax benefit at standard U.K. rate at 19% 17,220 29,734
Difference in overseas tax rates X 145 (700) 4
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ’ (5,389) 7,359
gT ax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized (7,235) (33,018) §
Share-based payment (not deductible for tax purposes) : (572) (6,443)
Research and development credit — M 4,804 —
Adjustments for prior year 767 .
Other timing differences and adjustments . . 206 224
Income tax credit/(expense) $ 9,946 _S (2,844)
Effective tax rate _ : ) 11% -2%

11. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries with Non-controlling ihterests:

2020 2021
LUMIRADX " LUMIRADX
COLOMBIA LUMIRADX COLOMB]A LUMIRADX
HOLD!NGS HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS HEALTHCARE

LIMITED* LTDA. _ LIMITED* _ LTDA.
Non-current assets ) 430_$_ 93§ 189_$ 237]
Current assets 6,986 2,001 8,627 1,517
Non-current liabilities (6,119) (3,016) (5,643) (3,594),
Current liabilities (1,730) (504) (3,213) (543)
Net assets/(liabilities) (100%) (433) (1,426) (40) (2,383)
Carry_iﬂg amount of Non-controlling interest 921 (1,128) 805 (1,260)
Revenue 8,789 3,208 12,101 2,320
Profit/(loss) 817 (2,023) 1,609 (879)
Other comprehensive gain . (5) 40 - -]
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) (100%) 812 (1,983) 1,609 (879
Profit/(loss) allocated to non-controlling interest 286 . (303) 306 132)
Other comprehensive loss allocated to non- ‘ ‘

controlling interest (2) 6 —

Cash flows from operating activities 731 (352) 1,810 (70),
Cash flows from investment activities (184) (18) (98) (38)
Cash flows from financing activities ey -100 - 500}
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 547 $ 330 8 1,712 $ (239)

—Represents the consolidation of LumiraDx Colombia Holdings Limited and LumiraDx SAS, a wholly owned subsidiary of LumiraDx
Colombia Holdings Limited

External parties hold 19% (2020: 35%) of the share capital of LumiraDx Colombia Holdings Limited. In 2021 the Group
acquired an additional 16% of LumiraDx Colombia Holdings Limited for $1,968. External parties hold 15% (2020: 15%) of
the share capital of LumiraDx Healthcare, Ltda.
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PROPORTION OF

EQUITY SHARES HELD

- BY COMPANY

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION R
‘ AND NATURE OF
NAME . __RESIDENCE . BUSINESS 2020 2021
LumiraDx Brazil Holdings Limited United Kingdom ___Holding Company _ 100% 100% |
LumiraDx Healthcare Ltda ‘Brazil Distributor of medical diagnostics 98% 98%
LumiraDx Colombia Holdings Limited United Kingdom Holding Company 65% 81% ]
Lumira SAS Colombia Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% * 100% *
Lumira SAS France Distributor of medical diagnostics n/a 100% ]
LumiraDx GmbH Germany Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100%
LumiraDx AB Sweden Distributor of medical dlagnosncs 100% 100% 1
LumiraDx UK Limited United Kihgd0|11 x :;::::tcusre and dlsmbunon of med1cal 100% 1 00%
LumiraDx Technology Limited United Kingdom Rescarch and development 100% - 100% |
LumiraDx Ltd. . United Kingdom ~ Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100%
LumiraDx Intcrnational Limited United Kingdom  Holding Company 100% 100%
LumiraDx Investment Limited United Kingdom Holding Company 100% 100%: )|
LumiraDx Care Solutions UK Limited United Kingdom Healthcare IT and services 100% 100%
LumiraDx, Inc United States Healthcare 1T and services 100% 100% |
ACS Acquisition LLC United States Healthcare IT and services 100% 100%
LumiraDx Healthcare LLC United States Healthcare 1T and services 100% 100% |
Biomedical Service S.r.]. Italy Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100%
LumiraDx AS Norway Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100% 1
LumiraDx GmbH Austria Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100%
LumiraDx GmbH Switzerland Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100% |
LumiraDx Japan KK Japan Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100%
LumiraDx Oy Finland - Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100% J]
LumiraDx A/S Denmark Distributor of nicdical diagnostics 100% 100%
LumiraDx Healthcare S.L. Spain Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100% ]
SureSensors Ltd. United Kingdom dDevcloper and manufacturer of medical 100% 100%
iagnostics
LumiraDx (Pty) Limited South Africa Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100% 1
LumiraDx B.V. Netherlands Distributor of medical diagnostics 100% 100%
‘LumiraDx Benelux B.V. Netherlands Distributor of medical diagnostics n/a 100% ]
LumiraDx Limited Ireland Distributor of medical diagnostics n/a 100%
LumiraDx Healthcare Private Limited India Distributor of medical diagnostics n/a 100%___ }
CA Hcalthcare Acquisition Corp. United States Holding Company 0% 100%

- LumiraDx Colombia Holdings Limited holds 100% of the equity shares of Lumira SAS
All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. All subsidiaries are held directly by the Company. The
proportion of the voting rights in the subsudlary undertaking held d|rectly by the Company does not differ from the proportion
of equity shares held.

Investments in subsidiaries

At 1 January 2020 . 83,579
Capltat contributions to subsndlary . 6,164
At 31 December 2020 ) . 89,743]
Capital contributions to subsidiary 3,318
At 31 December 2021 : 93,061 ]

The Group has taken advantage of the exemptions in section 479A to 479C of the Companies Act 2006 meaning that all
the Company's UK subsidiaries are exempt from an audit, ex¢cluding LumiraDx Colombia Holdings Limited and LumiraDx
investment Limited.
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, TECHNOLOGY
CUSTOMER SUPPLIER AND
GOODWILL _PATENTS INTANGIBLES RELATIONSHIPS _ SOFTWARE TOTAL
rCOSt - ] -
At January 1, 2020 $ 15391 § 18,122 § 8731 § 2,856 $ 11,177 $ 56,277
lAdditions — — . — o — —1
Af_quis‘ition of subsidiaries — — — — — —
Exchange differences 600 . 549 408 = 156 1,713 §
At December 31, 2020 15,991 18,671 9,139 2,856 11,333 57,990
Amortization ‘ ” L ~
At January 1, 2020 — 2,710 4,034 1,043 6,957 14,744
Charge for the period — 831 951 286 319 2,3874
'l_n'ipaimwnts — — — — — —
Exchange differences — 54 62 — 20 136
At December 31, 2020 — 3,595 5,047 1,329 7,296 17,267
Net Book Value ]
At December 31, 2020 $ 15991 § 15,076 § 4,092 § 1,527 § 4,037 $ 40,723
Cost : ' }
At January 1, 2021 $ 15991 § 18,671 $ 9,139 § 2,856 $ 11,333 $ 57,990
‘Additions — — — . — —
Exchange differences (385) (178) @18y — , (48) _ (889)
At December 31, 2021 15,606 18493 -3,861 j 2,856 11,285 57,101 ]
Amortization )
At January 1, 2021 — 3,595 5,047 1,329 7,296 17,267]
gha_rge for the period — 890 1,317 286 334 2,827
Exchange differences — (16) ___ 2h) — G 41}
At December 31, 2021 — 4,469 6,343 1,615 7,626 20,053
Net Book Value 1
At December 31, 2021 $ 15606 S 14,024 $ 2518 § 1,241 § 3,659 § 37,048

Amortization of $2,652 (2020: $2,224) has been charged to Selling, marketing, and administrative expenses and $175
(2020: $163) Research and development expenses.

Patents and intellectual property

Type of intangible Remaining
Intangible assets in use asset Net book value _ _ _amortization period
fAcquired Patents Patents 8033__ 9.years|
Acquired Technology Technology 356 2 years
Kc':-quired Supplier relationships Supplier relationships 1,243 ‘4 @
Acquired Customer-related intangible Customer-related 2,517 5-6 years
r/;zquire:d Technology Technology, 1,180 7 yeaE
Remaining
Intangible assets under development _ Type of intangible asset Net book value amortization period
Technology License o Technology__ 2,120 n/d,
Patent License Patents 5,301 r/a
Patents Patents 692 n/a;
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Impairment Review—Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the operating segment level, this beéing the level at which goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. As detailed in Note 5, the Group does not have multiple operating segments and is
engaged in a single business activity of the manufacture and sale of point of care medical diagnostics. The recoverable
amount of the goodwill has been calculated with reference to the present value of the future cash flows expected to be
derived from the cash generating unit (value in use). in calculating this value, management have used the following
assumptions:

o  Five years of cash flow projections are based on the Group's long term financial projections, including the
launch and commercialization of its new diagnostic products and services. These projects are based on the
Group's existing commercial experience and its overall understanding of new product launches.

+  Aterminal value based on a perpetual growth rate of 5% (2020 3%) for free cash flow

s Adiscount rate of 25% (2020: 25%) calculated using a risk-free inﬁerest rate of 1.5% (2020: 1.5%) and
appropriate market risk and small company specific risk premiums

Reasonable changes in (i) the Group's ability to achieve the commercial milestones included in the projections, (ii) the
discount rate, or (iii) the perpetual growth rate would not lead to an impairment.

Impairment Review—intangible Assets

Whilst the Group has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, there are intangible assets under development
which are not yet available for use. These represent elements of the underlying technology which will ultimately support
the Group's future product launches.

The recoverable amount of the assets have been calculated with reference to the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived from the assets (value in use). In calculating this value, management have used the following
assumptions:

»  Five years of cash flow projections are based on the Group’s long term financial projections, including the
taunch and commercialization of products and services related to the underlying technology. These projects are
based on the Group's existing commercial experience and its overall understanding of new product launches.

e Adiscount rate of 25% (2020: 25%) calculated using a risk-free interest rate of 1.5% (2020: 1.5%) and
appropriate market risk and small company specific risk premiums

Reasonable changes in (i) the Group's ability to achieve the commercial milestones included in the projections, (ii) the
discount rate, or (iii) the perpetual growth rate would not lead to an impairment.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
, FIXTURES .

LAND AND AND PLANT AND UNDER

BUILDINGS __FITTINGS _ EQUIPMENT _CONSTRUCTION TOTAL
Cost o I T
At January 1, 2020 $  3054_8S 3,115 $ 17,287 § 10432 $ 33,888
'Additions o 3,686 1,115 25831 33,749 64,381
Transfers —_ (22) 22 — —
Disposals __ = (126) (137) (406) (669)]
Exchange differences 366 ] 64 1,799 2,000 4,319
At December 31, 2020 7,106 4,146 44802 45865 101,919]
Accumulated Depreciation '
At January 1, 2020 1,067 " 2,014 5,666 — 8,747 ]
Charge for the period 841 618 4,258 — 5,717
msfers : — (1) 1 — —J
Disposals — (47) (135) — (182)
Exchange differences 151 - 52 352 — 555 ]
At December 31, 2020 2,059 2,636 10,142 ' — 14,837
—_— —
Carrying Amount — : s :
At December 31, 2020 $ 5,047 $ 1,510 § 34,660 § 45,865 § 87,082
Cost : o ]
At January 1, 2021 $ 7,006 $ 4,146 $ - 44,802 § 45865 _$ 101,919
'Additions 28,047 4144 72,186 1,969 106,346 ]
Transfers — 2,137 (2,137) — —
Disposals . (67) (452) 1) — -(610)!
Exchange differences (562) (322) (2,084) (574) . (3,542)
At December 31, 2021 __ 3452 9,653, 112676 47,260 204,113 ]
Accumulated Depreciation » '
At January 1, 2021 _ 2,059 2,636 10,142 —_ 14,837 |
_CMge for the period 2,773 2,204 12,298 — 17,275
Transfers : — 1,686 (1,686) — —1
Disposals (21) (366) 91) — (478
Exchange differences (106)__ (223) (589)__ R — (918),
At December 31, 2021 4,705 5937 __ 20074 - 00— 30,716
FCAryiqg Amount
At December 31, 2021 $ 29,819 § 3,716 $ 92,602 $ 47,260 $§ 173,397

Depreciation expense of $5,355 (2020: $1,676) has been charged to Research and development expenses and $11,920
(2020: $4,041) to Selling, marketing and administrative expenses.

Assets under construction are comprised of manufacturing equipment to be placed in service in 2022. Commitments related
to property, plant and equipment are referenced in Note 23.

COMPANY
The Company's property, plant and equipment is fully depreciated at 1 January 2020.

15. LOANS TO GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

2020 2021
Loans to group undertakings:
Loans to group undertakings due after more than one year 566,248 841,365 ]
Loans to group undertakings due within one year 37,983 56,014
Total 604,231 ___ 897,379 ]

Amounts owed by group undertakings as of 31 December 2021 had the fdllowing terms:
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Interest

Loan Denomination Rate
Company Name Value of loan per annum Reg_gyment Date
LumiraDx, Inc. 3,900___US Dollars 5.13% 1 January 2024]
4,219 US Dollars 4.50% 1 January 2025
L 1,179___US Dollars 4.00% 30 June 2025
LumiraDx International Limited 15,000 US Dollars 4.00% 18 February 2025
l 250__ US Dollars 4.00% 1 January 2023
5,000 US Dollars 4.00% 1 January 2024
L ‘ 5,303__ US Dollars 4.00% 15 March 2025|
LumiraDx Technology Limited 2,025 Pound sterling 4.00% 12 May 2022
l 485 Pound sterling 4.00% 1 January 2023
- Pound sterling 4.00% 1 January 2024
pumiraDx Care Solutions UK 2,025 Pound sterling 4.00% 1 January 2023
207  Pound sterling 4.00% 30 June 2023
| -___Pound sterling 4.00% 1 January 2024]
LumiraDx UK Limited 20,246  Pound sterling 4.25% 27 May 2025
l 53,989__ Pound sterling 4.25% 1 January 2022|
87,732  Pound sterling 4.75% 1 January 2023
| 134,973 Pound sterling 4.75% 1 January 2024
229,454  Pound sterling 4.75% 22 March 2025
l 67,487 _ Pound sterling 4.75% 9 December 2023|
134,973 Pound sterling 4.75% 31 May 2024
| 93,110_  Pound sterling 4.75% 27 May 2025
LumiraDx GmbH (Switzerland) 658  Swiss franc 2.00% 1 January 2024
L 438___Swiss franc 2.00% 1 October 2024]
358  Swiss franc 2.00% 1 January 2023
L 8___ Swiss franc 2.00% 1 December 2024
R 76  Swiss franc 2.00% 31 March 2024
LumiraDx B.V. 23,697 US Dollars 3.00% 30 October 2025
LumiraDx A/S 152  Euro 3.00% 30 April 2025
LumiraDx Japan Co., Ltd. 1,042 _ Japanese Yen 3.00% 30 October 2025
LumiraDx GmbH (Austria) 5,209 Euro 3.00% 30 October 2025
LumiraDx Limited 4,184 US Dollars 3.00% 30 October 2025

Accrued interest on the loans to group undertakings was $77,305 at 31 December 2021.
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Amounts owed by group undertakings as of 31 December 2020 had the following terms:
_ ' interest
Loan Denomination Rate
Company Name Value of loan per annum Repayment Date
LumiraDx, Inc. 2,495 _US Dollars 4.00% 23 December 2021|
3,900 US Dollars 5.13% 1 January 2024
t _ 4,219___US Dollars 4.50% 1 January 2025
2,209  US Dollars 4.00% 30 June 2025
LumiraDx International Limited 15,000 __ US Dollars 4.00% 18 February 2021]
250  US Dollars 4.00% 1 January 2023
| 5,000___US Dollars 4.00% 1 January 2024]
2,924 US Dollars 4.00% 15 March 2025
LumiraDx Technology Limited 1,500___ Pound sterling___ 4.00% 12 May 2022
800  Pound sterling 4.00% 1 January 2023
1 239 Pound sterling___ 4.00% 1 January 2024|
LumiraDx Care Solutions UK Limited 1,500  Pound sterling 4.00% 1 January 2023
L 250 _ Poundsterling__~ - 4.00% 30 June 2023
508  Pound sterling 4.00% 1 January 2024
LumiraDx UK Limited . 20,488 ___Pound sterling 4.25% 27 May 2021
54,636 Pound sterling 4.25% 1 January 2022 .

! , 88,783 ___ Pound sterling 475% 1 January 2023
136,589  Pound sterling 4.75% 1 January 2024
L 232,201___Pound sterling__ 4.75% 22 March 2025
) 18,741  Pound sterling 4.75% 9 December 2023
LumiraDx GmbH (Switzerland) 600___ Swiss franc 2.00% 1 January 2024]
400  Swiss franc 2.00% 1 October 2024
[ 224 Swiss franc 2.00% 1 January 2023
LumiraDx B.V. 10,775  US Dollars 3.00% 30 October 2025

Accrued interest on the loans to group undertakings was $42,828,000 at 31 December 2020.

16. INVENTORY

2020 2021
Finished goods S 50,054__S 78,2
Raw Materials 37,789 86,613
WIP 10,859 7,026
Finistied goods Reserves ‘ (3,734) (15,835)
Raw Materials Reserves ) (5,702) (6,007 )]
WIP Reserves (GJ50) __ (987)
Total Inventory $ 85,516 _$ 149,055 |

The increase in inventory for the year ended December 31, 2021 is a result of the building of inventory to meet the contmued
growth in product demand that has occurred since commercialization of COVID-19 products.

During 2021, the amount of inventories recognized as an expense within cost of sales was $114,195 (2020: $70,261, 2019:
$11,914). The amount of inventory write-downs recognized as an expense was $6,830 (2020: $16,493, 2019: $120)

Included in reserves is $12,891 (2020: $8,148) related to returned instruments that management expects to be unable to
refurbish.
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18.

2020 2021 2020 2021
{rade receivables S 83941 _$ 75,207__% N
Reserves on trade receivables (661) (1,681) - -
VAT receivable 11,034 6,515 305 4]
gggpaids' 10,970 11,519 3,370 298
Other receivables 4,011 9,408 101 -
In'tercomp_ﬂly receivable ' 8160 . 20,902 _ 4_828_64 ] 95,872
Total trade and other receivables $ 117455 S 121,870 S _ 52640 S 96174].

Trade receivables comprise customer receivables and include an allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,681 (2020: $661).
Trade receivables relate to existing customers with no significant defaults in the past. The Group has no material reserve
for expected credit losses in respect of Other receivables as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. The ‘Group retains all risks
associated with these receivables until fully recovered.

The fair value of all receivables is the same as their carrying values stated above.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

SHARE CAPITAL, PREMIUM AND OTHER RESERVES

Under the Articles of Association, the Company only has one class of share in issue, A Ordinary Shares, all of which rank
equally. Under the Articles, LumiraDx Group Limited also can issue a second class of shares, Common Shares. The
Common Shares will be equivalent to the A Ordinary Shares, except that the A Ordinary Shares are entitled to 10 votes
per shares on any resolution proposed to Shareholders whereas Common Shares will have 1 Vote per share. Currently
no Common Shares have been issued.

On 29 September 2016, LumiraDx Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of LumiraDx Group Limited following
the agreement of an Exchange Offer, which was effective from 28 September 2016. LumiraDx Limited acquired all shares
in LumiraDx Group Limited, and in exchange LumiraDx Limited issued to the shareholders of LumiraDx Group Limited a
corresponding number of shares on a share-for-share basis.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising since the date of incorporation from the
translation of the financial statements of operations with functional currencies different from the Company.

Other reserves

Other reserves are comprised of Capital contributions and equity compensation. In 2016, as part of the debt offering to US
Boston, described in Note 20, the Parent Company issued 13,067 warrants to purchase its A Ordinary Shares at a fixed
price of $611.628 per share. The warrants have a ten-year life and were issued on 30 September 2016. The issue date
fair value of the warrants is included in Other Reserves. On.28 September 2016, the Parent Company amended its Secured
Fixed Rate Loan Notes with Fitlinxx, Inc and granted Fitlinxx the right to convert 50% of the principal amount of the Notes
into A Ordinary Shares of the Parent Company at a conversion price of $611.628 per share. The issue date fair value of
the loan conversion rights is included in Other Reserves. In 2018, Fitlinxx converted 25% of the principal amount and 1,586
A Ordinary shares were issued by the Parent Company. In 2020, Fitlinxx converted the remaining 25% of the principal
amount and the Parent Company issued 1,587 A Ordinary Shares.

Shares authorized, fully paid and allocated:

A ORDINARY A ORDINARY
SHARES AUTHORIZED, FULLY PAID AND ALLOCATED SHARES SHARES
2020 2021
In issue at start of period 326,740 326,740
February Subdivision (220:1) — 71,556,060
Merger Subdivision at the LMDX Conversion Factor (1.60806264:1) —- 43,709,245 |
In issue at December - fully paid and allocated 326,740 115,592,045

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company did not have any Common Shares outstanding.
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19.

On February 1, 2021 the Board of Directors of the Company approved a stock split of the issued and outstanding A
Ordinary and common shares of the Company on a 220 for 1 basis. In accordance with IAS 33, the earnings per share
calculations have been presented for the stock split retrospectively. In connection with the merger, in order to achieve an
exchange ratio of one LMDX common share for each CAH share, the Company effected a subdivision, immediately prior
to the merger, of all issued, and authorized but unissued, LMDX ordinary shares and LMDX common shares at a ratio of
1.60806264:1.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Share options for Parent Company shares are granted to directors, employees and certain service prowders The share
options have a vesting period of 1-4 years with shares being exercisable pro rata per year from the date of issue. All share
options granted have a contractual life of 10 years from the date of grant. Share options are settled in equity.

For the employee based share options, if the owner of the share option ceases to be employed by the Company, the option
lapses within a short period of departure of such employee. 6,773,837 share options have been forfeited to date.
Management has riot anticipated any stock options to be forfeited due to termination 6f employment prior to the assumed
exercise date.

Movements on number of share options and their related exercise price are as follows:

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
NUMBER OF EXERCISE
OPTIONS __PRICE _
Outstanding at January 1, 2020 : : 54,198,851 __$ 1.67]
Granted ‘ ' 3,073,940 939
Exercised (15,920) (2.56))
Forfeited ' 7 (44,221) (3.81)
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 . 57212650 —2.09]
Granted , 26,557,293 16.45
Exercised : (104,200) (1 .00)}
Forfeited ' » (92,112) (9.72)
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 . 83573631 T 672}
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 45,770,544 1.44
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 66322324 _S 5.28 ]

On February 1, 2021 the Board of Directors of the Company approved a stock split of the issued and outstanding A Ordinary
and common shares of the Company on a 220 for 1 basis. In accordance with IAS 33, the earnings per share calculations
have been presented for the stock split retrospectively. In connection with.the merger, in order to achieve an exchange
ratio of one LMDX common share for each CAH share, the Company effected a subdivision, immediately prior to the
merger, of all issued, and authorized but unissued, LMDX ordinary shares and LMDX common shares at a ratio of
1.60806264:1.

On January 15, 2021, the Company granted “founder options” over ordinary shares to each of the three Founder Directors.
Each Founder Director was granted a fully vested option over 5,235,851 ordinary shares. On April 15, 2021, the Company
granted each Founder Director a further option over 2,819,577 ordinary shares. These options will vest over a two year
period subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions. In each instance, the exercise price of these options is equal
an exercise price per ordinary share of $17.05.

tn 2021, 104,200 options (2020: 15,920) were exercised at a weighted average exercise price of $1.00 (2020: $2.56). The
options outstandlng at December 31, 2021 have an exercise price in the range of $0.2 to 17.05 (2020: $0. 2to10.91)and a
weighted average contractual life of 6. 63 years (2020: 6. 47).

Share based compensation expense of $2,406 (2020: $1,890, 2019: $2,523) has been charged to Research and
development expenses and $31,503 (2020: $1,301, 2019: $1,447) to Selling, marketing and administrative expenses.
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20.

DEBT

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are
measured at amortised cost.
NOMINAL 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021

INTEREST YEAROF FACE CARRYING FAIR FACE CARRYING FAIR
CURRENCY  RATE MATURITY _VALUE AMOUNT VALUE VALUE AMOUNT VALUE

Unsccured Loan ' USD____, 2.00% 2024___$ 180005 18,000 S 18,8495 14242 5 142425 _14,557]
2020 Senior Secured Loans UsSh 8.00% 2022 65,000 62339 62351 - _

2021 Senior Secured Loans ljSD 8.00% 2024 o _ 300000286 81§_&8j
{I’(f:;’sme"' Financing EUR  1.70-2.60%  2022-2023 66 a6 66 263 263 ’6s

2020 Senior Secured Loan

In October 2020, the Company entered into a senior secured term loan and security. agreement (“2020 Senior Secured
Loan”) to borrow up to $100,000. The Company borrowed $65,000 in October 2020 which was used, in part, to repay the
Senior Secured Loan. Under the terims of the 2020 Senior Secured Loan an additional $35,000 was available upon the
achievement of certain commercial milestones. On January 13, 2021, the Company achieved the commercial milestones
and drew an additional $35,000 on the 2020 Senior Secured Loan.

The 2020 Senior Secured Loan is subject to an interest rate of 8.0% per annum payable in quarterly installments, which,
under the terms of the 2020 Senior Secured Loan, was due to increase after January 31, 2021 if an “IPO” or “Qualifying
Investment” was not completed before January 31, 2021. The issuance of the Series B Preferred Shares in November
2020 constitutes a “Qualifying Investment” for the purposes of the 2020 Senior Secured Loan, and therefore, the interest
rate will remain at 8% per annum for the term of the 2020 Senior Secured Loan. The 2020 Senior Secured Loan also
provides an ability to incur additional incremental term loans, or incremental term loans, in an aggregate amount of up to
$150,000 during the initial 12 month period on an uncommitted basis. The Senior Secured Loan matures October 5,
2022. Debt issuance costs were recorded as a reduction of the proceeds. The discount on the issuance will be
recognized using the effective interest method until the maturity date of October 5, 2022.

In connection with the 2020 Senior Secured Loan, on November 6, 2020 the Company issued warrants to purchase up
to 1,000 common shares at an exercise price equal to $4 644.96 per common share, recorded in Other Reserves (Note
14).

On January 15, 2021 the Group agreed to borrow $40,000 in incremental term loans under and on substantially the
same terms as the 2020 Senior Secured Loan.

2021 Senior Secured Loan

On March 23, 2021, the Group refinanced the $100,000 in outstanding amounts under the 2020 Senior Secured Loan
and the $40,000 borrowed in January 2021 with a $300,000 loan (“2021 Senior Secured Loan”). The loan matures in
three years and bears interest at 8% annually, paid quarterly. Debt issuance costs were recorded as a reduction of the
proceeds. The discount on the issuance will be recognized using the effective interest method until the maturity date.

In connection with the 2021 Senior Secured Loan, the Company issued warrants to purchase up to 1,485,848 common
shares at an exercise price equal to $10.00 per common share, recorded in Other Reserves (Note 14).

Senior Secured Loans

On September 20, 2019, LumiraDx Investment Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, issued Senior Secured Loans in the
amount of $40,000. The Senior Secured Loans are secured generally by all the Group’s assets and mature on
September 20, 2023. The Senior Secured Loans carry an interest rate of 11.5% paid quarterly. The Group can draw two
additional loans in the amount of $25,000 each upon the achievement of certain commercial milestones. The Company
also issued the lenders 2,284 10 year warrants to purchase A Ordinary Shares at a fixed price of $1,459.89 per share.

46



DocuSign Envelope ID: 5D328B51-6B4A-4F6F-87F2-72CF5280C14E

LUMIRADX GROUP LIMITED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fair value of the warrants was recorded in Other reserves in equity. Senior Secured Loans were recorded at a fair
value of $37,265. Debt issuance costs were recorded as a reduction of the proceeds. The discount on theé issuance will
be recognized using the effective interest method until the maturity date 6f September 20, 2023.

In October 2020, in connection with the issuance of the 2020 Senior Secured Loan, LumiraDx Investment Ltd settled the
balance of the Senior Secured Loans with a paymert of $43,600, mcludlng $3,600 incurred as a prepayment penalty
(Note 6).

Unsecured Loans

On October 17, 2019, the Group issued an Unsecured Loan in the amount of $18,000 to a tax-exempt private.
foundation. The terms of the loan include restrictionis on the use of the proceeds for specific programs and commitments
to prowde access to the Group's future products to support the foundation’s charitable purposes. The Unsecured Loan
matures on October 17, 2024. The Unsecured Loan carries an interest rate of 2% paid quarterly.

Instrument Financing Loans

Instrument fi fnanc:ng loans are used to finance the cost of installing instruments at customer locations where the Group
retains title of the instruments:
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Balance at January 1,2020__ . $_ . 56,446 |
Mgg_w [inancing cash [lows , '
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance costs i

2020 Senior Secured Loan 62,391
Repayments of borrowings _ 17 1
Senior Secured Loans , o ‘ (40,000)
|_Instrument Financing Loans : (396)]
Total changes from financing cash flows ‘ ‘ 21,995
Other changes .
Warrants
{2020 Senior Secured Loan . (407)!
Loss on extinguishment of debt '
{_Senior Secured Loans 2,047 ]
Amortization of debt issuance costs ' '

L Senior Secured Loans ) 500_]
2020 Senior Secured Loan 355
Foreign exchange impact : 1
Instrument Financing Loans 19
Total other changes 2,§1_4]
Balance at December 31, 2020 ' , 81,015
Less: Debt due within one year __(39%5)!

. $ 80,620
Changes from financing cash flows |
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance costs
12020 Senior Secured Loan $ 34,125 |
Incremental term loan 39,000
L2021 Senior Secured Loan ' 288,513 ]
Instrument Financing Loans 192
Repayments of borrowings . )
2020 Senior Secured Loan (100,000)
| Incremental term loan i i ’ (40,000)!
Instrument Financing Loans ___(552)
Total changes from financing cash flows : . - 221,278
Other chariges
L Reclassification of Unsecured Loan amounts to grant liability in accordance with IAS 20 (3,758)
Warrants
. 2021 Senior Secured Loan (5,136))]
Loss on extinguishment of debt
.2020 Senior Secured Loan 3,170 §
Incremental term loan ) 1,000
!Amortization of debt issuance costs i i
2020 Senior Secured Loan 366
{ 2021 Senior Secured Loan 3,437
Foreign exchange impact
|_Instrument Financing Loans ' (52)]
Total other changes (973)
Balance at December 31; 2021 301,320
Less: Debt due within one year (191)
[ $ 301,129 ]
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LEASE LIABILITY

2020 2021
Due in less than one year_: : : : $ 3,149 _$ 5,546
Due between one and five years . : 9,018 25,151
Due in more than five years L. - 2,269 16,301.)
Total $ 14436 § 46,998
22. DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITY
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:
2020 2021
Deferred taxes: e ' ]
- Liabilities ' $ 1230 8 779
[Total net deferred tax liabilities $ - 1,230 _S ~119)
The analysis and movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:
JANUARY 1, RECOGNIZED RECOGNIZED DECEMBER 31,
2021 IN INCOME IN EQUITY 2021
Deferred tax liabilities - - ' " - ]
Intangible assets $ 1,727  § (383) 8 (106) $ 1,238
Qr_ef;rred tax assets ]
Net operating losses and other ’
timing differences (497) 197 (159) (459)
Net deferred tax liability 3 1,230 _§ (186)_$ (265)_8% 779
JANUARY 1, RECOGNIZED RECOGNIZED DECEMBER 31,
2020 IN INCOME IN EQUITY 2020
rl)eferred tax liabilities - ] - e ]
Intangible assets $ 2,036 $ (393) § 84 § 1,727
@ﬁl‘red tax assets u ]
Net operating losses and other
timing differences 477) - (20) (497)
Net deferred tax liability $ . 15598  (393)_% - 64_$  1,230]

Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realization of the related tax

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

benefit through futurée taxable profits is probable. The realization of the tax benefit related to losses in certain jurisdictions

were determined to not be probable. As such, the Group did not recognize deferred tax assets of $78,602 for U K. tax

losses and $10,615 for U.S. tax losses and other temporary timing differehces. The Group has material carried forward
tax losses in the U.K. and U.S. Losses in the U.K. do not expire whereas losses in the U.S. expire on various dates up to

2037 if not utilized.

The utilization of the U.S. net operating loss carry-forwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation under

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 due to ownership changes that have occurred previously or that could
occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit the amount of U.S. net operating loss carry-forwards that ¢an be

utilized annually to offset future taxable income. The Company has not yet completed an evaluation of ownership

changes through December 31, 2019. To the extent an ownership change has occurred or does occurs in the future, the

U.S. net operating loss carry-forwards may be subject to limitation.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2021 2020 2021
{Trade payables ' : - $____57,898 S 58,061 S 2,651_% 1,715}
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 23,301 26,366 2,349 1,860
'Accrued interest -~ 5,730 6,239 5,730 6,2&]
Warranty provision 6,557 5801 - -
Deferred revenue 1,760 - 1,517 - - 1
Intercompany payable - 292 114 25,224
Alercompany pa I — : S
{Total trade and other payables 3 95,246 __$ 98,276 __$ 10,844 _§ 35,023]

24. GOVERNMENT AND OTHER GRANTS

25.

The Group has received grants from government and private entities. These include grants in respect of research
and development activities, expansion of manufacturing capabllltles and deployment of the Group’s products in
ceitain geographlcal markets.

The Group has recorded $8, 602 and $1,473 as a reductlon in feseérch and development expenses in 2021 and
2020 respectively, to reflect the usage of grant funds and research and development tax expenditures. The Group
had liabilities of $38,941 and $44, 037 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, réspectively, for these unspent grant
funds.

As of December 31, 2021 the Group had $26,211 (2020: $10, 000) related to a grant for manufacturing equipment.
The Group will recognize the grant over the useful life of the equipmient. In 2021, the Group reduced
manufacturing expenses by $3,784 (2020: $nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and cash flow
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

(a) Currency risk
The majority of the Group’s sales and purchase transactions are denominated in either US doIIars or UK
sterling. The exchange risk is managed by maintaining bank accounts denominated in those currencies.

A 10% percent strengthening of the UK sterting against the US dollar at 31 December 2021 would have had
an impact of increasing the loss before tax for the period by $26,910,000 on the basis that all other variables
remain constant.

The Group considers the impact of foreign currency risk to be not significant given the Group’s net balance
sheet exposure.

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

200 202
US Dollars 45,863 51,568 ]
UK. Pounds ' 46,093 27,089
Euros : : 10,825 24,057 }
Colombian Pesos 3,473 3,398
Swiss Francs 8 992 |
Swedish Krona 1,903 954
Brazilian Reals ) 900 783
Other 230 957
109,295 109,798
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(b) Cash flow and interest rate risk

The Group mainly raises debt on a fixed rate basis for bonds and notes in US dollars. The primary objective
of the Group’s interest rate management is to protect the net interest result while managing the overall cost
of borrowing.

The Group’s debt is barried at fixed interest rates.
Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk of loss the Group would incur if operators and counterparties fail to fulfil their credit
obligations. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.
For banks and financial institutions, the Group maintains it accounts with major international banks with “A” ratings.
Credit risk relatlng to accounts receivable balances are managed on a case- by-case baS|s

At 31 December 2021 the Group has trade réceivables of $75,207,000 (2020: $83,941,000). New clients are
analysed before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The credit quallty of the
customer is assessed taklng into account its finangial position, past expenence and other factors. The ufilisation
of credit limits is regularly monitored. Manageinient does not expect any losseés from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Loss allowance as of January 1, 2020: - $ 674 )
Loss allowance recognized during the year 119
Balances written off during the year (132)|
Balances recovered during  the year —
Loss allowance at December 31, 2020: L R 661]
Loss allowance recognized during the year 1,253
Balances written off during the year (222);
Balances recovered during _t_h_e‘ year (12)
Loss allowance at December 31, 2021: : s 1,680 )

At December 31, 2021 trade receivables of $1,811,000 (2020: $3,581,000) were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The
ageing analysis of these receivables is 3 months and above.

At December 31, 2021 trade receivables included 1 significant customer that accounted for 28% of the
balance.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled in cash. Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operatlng entities of
the Group and aggregated by Group Finance. Group Finance monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's
liquidity requirements to énsure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. The Group is reliant on
its ability to raise additional investment capital from the issuance of both debt and equity securities to fund
its business operating plans and future obligations. The Group believes it will continue to be suécessful in
raising additional investment capital to meet its obligations.

The following are the undiscounted contracted maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments for the
period ending 31 December 2021:

NON-DERIVATIVE EFFECTIVE ) LESS ,
FiINANCIAL INTEREST YEAROF CARRYING CONTRACTUAL THANI1 12 2-5
LIABILITY RATE* __ MATURITY _AMOUNT _ _CASH FLOWS YEAR _ YEARS YEARS
Unsccurcd Loan 10.55% 2024 14242 15,040 285 285 14,470}
2021 Senior Sécured Loan 10.02% 2024 286,815 354,133 24,333 24,333 305,467
Instrument Financing Loans 1.7-2.6% 2022-2023 263 263 191 72 —1
Trade and other payables 98,276 98,276 98,276 . — —
Total 399,596 467,712 123,085 24,690 319,937
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The following are the undiscounted contracted maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments for the
period ending 31 December 2020:

NON-DERIVATIVE EFFECTIVE ) LESS

FINANCIAL INTEREST YEAROF CARRYING CONTRACTUAL THANI 1—2 2—5
LIABILITY RATE* MATURITY. AMOUNT CASH FLOWS YEAR YEARS YEARS
Unsccurcd Loan ) 10.55% 2024 18,000 19,369 360 360 18,649
2020 Scnior Sccured Loans 10.32% 2022 62,339 74,161 5,200 68,961 =1
Instrument Financing Loans 1.7-2.6% 2021-2023 676 705 409 212 84
{Frade and other payables ; : 05246 _ 95246 95,246 —_ -1
Total 176,261 189;481 101,215 69,533 18,733
COMMITMENTS

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

As of As of
Decéember December

31,2020 _ 31,2021
Capital $_ 51264 _$ 15,641
Invenfory _ 375,6:371 ] 43,573
Total $ 868955 59214}

The capital commitments relate to contracts to purchase property, plant and equipment.

27. LEASES - GROUP AS LESSEE

28.

The Group leases various offices, facilities, and equipment. The lease terms are between 1 and 5 years.

Right-of-use assets

ﬁ;t Carryﬁg Amount |
December 31, 2020 $ 10,386
| December 31, 2021 27,746}
Depreciation ex;ﬁense for the year ended
December 31, 2020 b 2,§]_0J
December 31, 2021 5,593

During 2021, additions to right-of-use assets amounted to $23,038000 (2020: $10,233,000).

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT AND LOSS ____ 2020 2021
Depreciation expense of right-of-use-assets . $ 2,310 s 5,593J
Interest expense on lease liabilities 751 2501
[ S___3,561_5__._8094]

Variable lease payment terms are deemed an insignificant portion of the overall liability at 31 December 2021.
The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 amounts to $5,429,000 (2020: $3,054,000).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s Directors are the Key Management Personnel for the Group. The total Director's emoluments for

2021 were $30,197,000 (2020: $661,000). Included in the Director's emoluments for 2021 is $28,376,000 of stock
compensation expense (2020: $62,000).
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2020 2021
Salaries and wages : $__ 5378 1,743]
Stock compensation expense 62 § 28,376
Pension and other post-employment benefits . 33_ 9% 60 §
Other employee benefits 29§ 18
Total - - i $S_ 6615 30197]

29.

30.

For the purposes of these remuneration disclosures the values for equity compensation plans are calculated
based on the fair value used in Note 19.

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

On 29 September 2016, the Company proceeded with a restructuring whereby a new Cayman Islands
incorporated company, LumiraDx Limited became the new holding company of the group. From 29 September
2016, the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of LumiraDx Limited, an exempted company limited by shares
incorporated in the Cayman Islands (registered number 314391} with registered offices situated at the offices of
Estera Trust (Cayman) Limited, PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Financing
Convertible Notes

In March 2022 the Group entered into privately negotiated subscription agreements with certain investors wherein
the Group sold and investors purchased $56.5 million of Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2027. The
notes bear annual interest of 6%, payable semi-annually in arrears starting September 1, 2022. The notes mature
on March 1, 2027 and are convertible at the holder's option at an initial conversion rate of approximately $9.22
per share.

Instrument Financing Agreement

On April 27, 2022 the Group consummated the first closing of a private placement offering pursuant to which it
received an initial investment of $26.1 million in cash and entered into a Instrument Financing Agreement (the
“Instrument Financing Agreement”) with USB Focus Fund LumiraDx 2A, LLC, USB Focus Fund LumiraDx 2B,
LLC and certain other related investors (collectively, the “Investors”), and Pear Tree Partners, L.P. The terms of
the Instrument Financing Agreement provide that the Investors may invest up to an aggregate maximum amount
of $50 million in the Company, or such higher amount as agreed to by the Group and the Investors (the “Invested
Amount”), in one or more closings, in order to fund the purchase of additional LumiraDx instruments, allowing the
Group to further expand instrument placements. In consideration of such investment, the Group has agreed to
pay to the Investors on a semi-annual basis and over a three-year period (subject to extension in certain events),
a payment that is equal to 20% of the total gross amount invoiced by the Group in respect of sales of test strips
for use in such funded LumiraDx instruments which are allocated to the Invested Amount by the Group in
accordance with the terms of the Instrument Financing Agreement (the “Instrument Financing Payments”).

If by the end of the applicable three-year term, the investors have not received, in aggregate, Instrument Financing
Payments equal to or in excess of two times the Invested Amount, the Group shall, at its sole discretion, either:
(i) issue to the Investors an aggregate amount of the Group’s common shares, $0.0000028 par value per common
share, equal in value to the difference between the Target Return and the total Instrument Financing Payments
received by the Investors, at a price per Common Share equal to the volume-weighted average price of the
Common Shares for the 20 Nasdaq trading day period immediately following the applicable Expiry Date, but
subject to a minimum price per Common Share of $7.25; or (ii) pay to the Investors the applicable Instrument
Financing Shortfall in cash.

In June 2022 the Group closed an additional $15.4 million with the investors.
Loan Amendments

On June 17, 2022, the Group entered into a second amendment to the 2021 Senior Secured Loan, to provide for,
among other things, revisions to the minimum net sales and the minimum liquidity covenants (the “Amendment”).
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If the Group completes a Qualifying Financing as defined in the Amendment, further revisions to the covenants
take effect.

In exchange for the covenant amendments described above, the Group agreed to an increase in the facility fee
to be paid to Pharmakon on any repayment, lncludlng prepayment of amounts borrowed under the Loan
Agreement and agreed to amend the ‘éxercise price for 1,485, 848 outstandlng warrants to purchase common
shares of the Group that aré held by the lender. The warrants were issued with an original exercise prrce equal to
$10.00 per common share. In connection with thé Amendment described above, the ¢ exercise price was changed
from $10.00 16, in the event of a Quallfymg Flnancmg that is completed on or pnor to December 31, 2022, a price
equal to the lower of the offer price to investors in suéh Qualifying Financing or the per share daily volume-
weighted average price of the common shares calculated on the basis of the ten Nasdaq trading days ending on
the trading day immediately prior to.the announcement of a Qualifying Financing. If a Qualifying Flnancmg has
not been completed on or prior to December 31, 2022, the amended exercise price for the warrants would be
determined on the basis of the per share dauly volume-welghted average price of the common shares calculated
on the baS|s of thé ten Nasdaq trading days ending December 31, 2022.

In July 2022 the Group entered into a third amendment WhICh reduced the defmtlon of Quallfylng Fmancmg to be
at least $100.0 million (or its equivalent in another currenéy or currencies).

Public Offering

in July 2022, the Group closed a secondary public stock offering. The gross proceeds from the offering were $75
million. In addition to the shares being sold in the public offering, the Group also sold additional shares to raise
gross proceeds of approximately $25.0 million in a concurrent private placement to one of its éxisting investors,
the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. The underwrlters of the public offéring had a 30- -day option to purchase
additional common shares at the publlc offering price and purchased $7 million of shares in August 2022. In total,
the Group received net proceeds of approxmately $100 miillion after fees and commissions.
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